PURPOSIVIST REASONING IN FEDERAL CIVIL PROCEDURE

LUMEN N. MULLIGAN[†] & EMILY PENNINGTON^{††}

ABSTRACT

This invited Article both reviews the Tenth Circuit's stance on the circuit split addressing repleading counterclaims in amended answers and observes broader interpretive-approach trends in Federal Rules of Civil Procedure cases. In Sinclair Wyoming Refining Co. v. A & B Builders, Ltd., the Tenth Circuit holds that, absent prejudice to the opposing party, the failure to replead a counterclaim in an amended answer does not constitute abandonment; thus, taking the so-called permissive side of a circuit split on this question. In so doing, the Tenth Circuit adopts a purposivist approach to interpretation of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. In reviewing all of the Tenth and other circuits' significant, published, 2021, Federal Rules of Civil Procedure cases, we conclude that the circuits deploy textualist reasoning less often for Rules issues than they do for other questions. In particular, we find that both the Tenth Circuit, at 1.9%, and the other circuits, at 1.8%, deployed textualist reasoning seldomly for Rules issues. Yet, in this same dataset of cases, the courts used textualist reasoning for non-Rules issues often: the Tenth Circuit, at 23.1%, and the other circuits, at 21.3%. We also found the Tenth Circuit, at 1.9%, trailed the other circuits, at 5.3%, in the use of purposivist reasoning in Rules analyses.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	384
I. REPLEADING COUNTERCLAIMS CIRCUIT SPLIT	386
A. Legal and Factual Framework to the Counterclaim Split	386
B. Strict Approach	390
C. Permissive Approach	393
D. The Tenth Circuit Adopts the Permissive Approach	397
II. INTERPRETIVE APPROACHES TO THE RULES	399
A. Textualism and the Strict Approach to Repleading	
Counterclaims	400
B. Inherent Authority	402
C. Purposivism and the Permissive Approach to	
Repleading Counterclaims	404
III. THE CIRCUITS ESCHEW TEXTUALIST REASONING IN THEIR	
2021 SIGNIFICANT RULES DECISIONS	407

[†] Earl B. Shurtz Research Professor, University of Kansas School of Law.

^{††} Research Attorney to Hon. Amy Fellows Cline, Kansas Court of Appeals. The positions expressed in this Article are those of the authors alone.

CONCLUSION	412
APPENDIX 1: LIST OF SIGNIFICANT TENTH CIRCUIT	
FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE CASES (2021)	412
APPENDIX 2: LIST OF SIGNIFICANT NON-TENTH CIRCUIT COURT	
FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE CASES (2021)	414

INTRODUCTION

In 2021, the Tenth Circuit, in Sinclair Wyoming Refining Co. v. A & B Builders, Ltd.¹ took a stance in a burgeoning circuit split on whether the failure to replead counterclaims in an amended answer constitutes waiver. The Tenth Circuit, adopting a purposivist rather than textualist interpretation of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (Rules), held that the failure to replead counterclaims in an amended answer does not constitute abandonment absent prejudice to the opposing party.² While treatises have noted this underlying split, ours is the first law review piece to tackle this question.³ Beyond a discussion of this split, we focus on the Tenth Circuit's purposivist interpretive approach to the Rules more broadly. We find that, in addition to taking this purposivist stance in Sin*clair*, in 2021 the Tenth Circuit generally eschewed textualist reasoning when addressing Rules issues. Further, we find that in Rules cases, the Tenth Circuit tended to mirror its sister circuits in deploying purposivist reasoning over textualist reasoning. We conclude that these broader interpretive commitments, both in the Tenth Circuit and elsewhere, are important trends, especially when the Supreme Court itself fails to chart a consistent interpretive approach in Rules cases.⁴

Certainly, the Tenth Circuit's entry into this circuit split on the need to replead counterclaims in amended answers, on its own, is of note. But of broader interest, in our view, is the Tenth Circuit's adoption of a purposivist interpretive approach to the Rules. Indeed, in prior work, Professors Mulligan and Staszewski argue that even judges who are otherwise strict textualists should be purposivists⁵ when it comes to interpreting the

^{1. 989} F.3d 747 (10th Cir. 2021).

^{2.} Id. at 777–78.

^{3.} See, e.g., 1 STEPHEN S. GENSLER & LUMEN N. MULLIGAN, FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE: RULES AND COMMENTARY 428, 431 (2022) [hereinafter RULES AND COMMENTARY] ("[T]he courts are split on whether counterclaims must be restated in an answer to an amended complaint.").

^{4.} See, e.g., Elizabeth G. Porter, *Pragmatism Rules*, 101 CORNELL L. REV. 123, 136–42 (2015) (addressing the Court's various interpretive approaches to Rules cases); Lumen N. Mulligan & Glen Staszewski, *The Supreme Court's Regulation of Civil Procedure: Lessons from Administrative Law*, 59 UCLA L. REV. 1188, 1243 n.325 (2012) [hereinafter *Supreme Court Regulation*].

^{5.} We generally adopt Stack's definitions of textualism and purposivism. *See* Kevin M. Stack, *Purposivism in the Executive Branch: How Agencies Interpret Statutes*, 109 NW. U. L. REV. 871, 881–82 (2015) ("The debate over how courts do and should interpret statutes has narrowed to two primary interpretive approaches: textualism and purposivism.... Textualists take understanding the meaning of enacted text as the sole object of interpretation. In contrast, purposivists treat the text as the best evidence of statutory purposes and a source of constraint, but understand interpretation as a process of implementing statutory purposes, not merely adhering to statutory text.").

Rules.⁶ This follows in this view because the Rules, enacted in an intrajudicial-branch process, lack the separation of powers considerations that surround statutory interpretation⁷ and include the official notes and policy statements as part of their formally enacted documentation.⁸ The *Sinclair* opinion, then, becomes a strong jumping-off point to test whether judges actually do engage in purposivist reasoning more often in Rules cases. We find that they do.

We proceed as follows. In Part I, we address the circuit split regarding the need to replead counterclaims in amended answers. First, we lay out the background legal and factual scenarios that drive the split. Second, we address the so-called strict approach, which concludes that the failure to replead counterclaims results in abandonment of the counterclaims. Third, we turn to the counter-position, the permissive approach, which reasons that the failure to replead a counterclaim in an amended answer does not constitute waiver absent a showing of prejudice. We end this Part with a review of the *Sinclair* opinion that adopts the permissive approach.

In Part II, we examine the Supreme Court's three differing approaches to Rules interpretation. We illustrate that the Court at times takes a textualist approach to the Rules. At other times, the Court takes a freewheeling, inherent authority tact to Rules construction. And in yet a third mode, the Court at times adopts a purposivist theory of Rules interpretation. In so doing, we conclude that the strict approach to the need to replead counterclaims is an example of the textualist approach to Rules interpretation. By contrast, the permissive approach, which the Tenth Circuit adopted in *Sinclair*, is an instance of the purposivist approach of Rules interpretation. Given our general commitment to purposivist reasoning in Rules cases, we conclude that the Tenth Circuit falls on the right side of the underlying split.

In Part III, we look to textualist and purposivist reasoning in Rules cases more generally for the 2021 calendar year. In this process, we reviewed all fifty-two significant, published Rules cases in the Tenth Circuit in 2021. We conducted a similar review of all the other circuits' 881 significant, published Rules cases. Our findings tend to support the notion that judges are more inclined to purposivist reasoning in Rules cases. To wit, we found that both the Tenth Circuit, at 1.9%, and the other circuits, at 1.8%, deployed textualist reasoning seldomly for Rules issues in this dataset.⁹ Yet, in this same dataset of cases, the courts used textualist reasoning for non-Rules issues often: the Tenth Circuit, at 23.1%, and the

^{6.} See Lumen N. Mulligan & Glen Staszewski, Civil Rules Interpretive Theory, 101 MINN. L. REV. 2167, 2211–15, 2227–28 (2017) [hereinafter Rules Interpretive Theory] (arguing that the Rules require a purposive interpretive approach); see also Lumen N. Mulligan & Glen Staszewski, Institutional Competence and Civil Rules Interpretation, 101 CORNELL L. REV. ONLINE 64, 70–73, 80–81, 87–88 (2016) (same); Supreme Court Regulation, supra note 4, at 1243 n.325 (same).

^{7.} *Rules Interpretive Theory, supra* note 6, at 2183–86.

^{8.} *Id.* at 2196–98.

^{9.} See infra Table 1.

other circuits, at 21.3%.¹⁰ We also found the Tenth Circuit, at 1.9%, trailing the other circuits, at 5.3%, in the use of purposivist tools of interpretation for significant Rules cases.¹¹ We conclude that studies of judges' actual interpretive methods in Rules cases, both in the Tenth and other circuits, are valuable and call for broader, similar studies in the future.

I. REPLEADING COUNTERCLAIMS CIRCUIT SPLIT

In this Part, we address the split regarding repleading counterclaims. We begin by providing a legal and factual introduction to this circuit split. Next, we review the two competing camps on this issue: the strict view and the permissive view. Finally, we address the Tenth Circuit's adoption of the permissive approach in *Sinclair*.

A. Legal and Factual Framework to the Counterclaim Split

The Tenth Circuit's *Sinclair* opinion addresses amending pleadings and the relationship between amended and pre-amended pleadings.¹² The pleadings set the parameters of a civil lawsuit.¹³ In particular, the complaint and the answer establish the claims and counterclaims for relief sought, as well as the denials and affirmative defenses to these claims.¹⁴ The Rules, however, do not assume that the pleadings will be static. Rather, Rule 15(a) envisions that the parties will regularly amend the pleadings before trial.¹⁵ Indeed, this assumption is so baked into the system that motions to amend pleadings, unusually, place the burden on the non-movant to demonstrate why leave to amend should not be granted,¹⁶ and the court must grant leave unless there is a good reason to deny it.¹⁷ As part of this process, the courts apply the fundamental rule that amended pleadings supersede prior pleadings.¹⁸ As a result, if counsel omits a claim or defense

15. See FED. R. CIV. P. 15(a)(2) ("The court should freely give leave [to amend pleadings] when justice so requires.").

16. See, e.g., Mayeaux v. La. Health Serv. & Indem. Co., 376 F.3d 420, 425 (5th Cir. 2004); Eminence Cap., LLC v. Aspeon, Inc., 316 F.3d 1048, 1052 (9th Cir. 2003); Petworth Holdings, LLC v. Bowser, 333 F.R.D. 297, 299 (D.D.C. 2019) ("Under Rule 15(a), 'the non-movant generally carries the burden in persuading the court to deny leave to amend."") (quoting Nwachukwu v. Karl, 111 F.R.D. 208, 211 (D.D.C. 2004)).

17. See Williams v. Lew, 819 F.3d 466, 471 (D.C. Cir. 2016); see also Stem v. Gomez, 813 F.3d 205, 215–16 (5th Cir. 2016); Simmons v. United Mortg. & Loan Inv., 634 F.3d 754, 769 (4th Cir. 2011); Bylin v. Billings, 568 F.3d 1224, 1229 (10th Cir. 2009); Arthur v. Maersk, Inc., 434 F.3d 196, 204 (3d Cir. 2006).

18. See Pac. Bell Tel. v. Linkline Comme'ns, 555 U.S. 438, 456 n.4 (2009) ("Normally, an amended complaint supersedes the original complaint."); see also Bosarge v. Miss. Bureau Narcotics, 796 F.3d 435, 440 (5th Cir. 2015), overruled on other grounds by Wilcher v. Lincoln Cnty. Bd. of Supervisors & City of Brookhaven, Mississippi, 243 So.3d 177, 185 (Miss. 2018); Hayward v. Cleveland Clinic Found., 759 F.3d 601, 617 (6th Cir. 2014); W. Run Student Hous. Assocs. v. Huntington Nat. Bank, 712 F.3d 165, 171 (3d Cir. 2013); Desai v. Deutsche Bank Sec., 573 F.3d 931, 936 n.5, 941 (9th Cir. 2009); Connectu LLC v. Zuckerberg, 522 F.3d 82, 91 (1st Cir. 2008); Pintando v. Miami-Dade Hous. Agency, 501 F.3d 1241, 1243 (11th Cir. 2007); Young v. City of Mount Ranier, 238 F.3d 567, 572 (4th Cir. 2001).

^{10.} *Id*.

^{11.} *Id*.

^{12.} See 989 F.3d 747, 774 (10th Cir. 2021).

^{13.} See RULES AND COMMENTARY, supra note 3, at 168–70.

^{14.} See FED. R. CIV. P. 8(a)-(c); see also RULES AND COMMENTARY, supra note 3, at 167.

from a prior pleading in the amended pleading, as a general rule, the missing claim or defense is no longer a part of the case.¹⁹ Of course, the courts find exceptions, but generally they are not relevant to this discussion.²⁰

Because amended pleadings supersede prior pleadings, an opposing party's service of an amended pleading can raise a desire, or a requirement, to amend one's own pleadings. Generally speaking, this urge is less pressing for plaintiffs facing an amended answer that lacks a counterclaim. Just as with the original answer, an amended answer requires no response because the Rules do not contemplate mandatory reply pleadings absent the presence of a counterclaim.²¹ (Of course, plaintiffs may seek leave to serve a reply to an amended answer.)²² Thus, the failure of a plaintiff to respond to an amended answer that lacks a new counterclaim raises few issues of concern.

Defendants facing an amended complaint, however, have the right to respond. The Supreme Court holds that, under Rule 15 and as a function of constitutional due process, courts must give defendants a chance to respond to amended complaints.²³ Thus, defendants need not seek leave of court to file an amended answer to an amended complaint. But this right to respond is not coterminous with a necessity—that is to say, a duty—that defendants respond to amended complaints.

Indeed, the Court has not addressed whether defendants have a duty

^{19.} See Mowrer v. U.S. Dep't Transp., 14 F.4th 723, 733 (D.C. Cir. 2021); Linicomn v. Hill, 902 F.3d 529, 534 n.4 (5th Cir. 2018); Green v. Domestic Rels. Section Ct. Common Pleas Compliance Unit Montgomery Cnty., 649 F. App'x 178, 181 (3d Cir. 2016); Mohammadi v. Islamic Republic Iran, 782 F.3d 9, 17–18 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (noting plaintiffs' omitted jurisdictional allegations); Anderson v. Donahoe, 699 F.3d 989, 997 (7th Cir. 2012); Cadkin v. Loose, 569 F.3d 1142, 1149 (9th Cir. 2009); B & H Med., LLC v. ABP Admin., 526 F.3d 257, 267 n.8 (6th Cir. 2008); Ramallo Bros. Printing, Inc. v. El Día, Inc., 490 F.3d 86, 88 n.2 (1st Cir. 2007); *Young*, 238 F.3d at 573.

^{20.} For example, plaintiffs filing amended complaints need not replead claims that have already been dismissed with prejudice in order to preserve them for appeal. *See Hayward*, 759 F.3d at 617–18; Lacey v. Maricopa Cnty., 693 F.3d 896, 928 (9th Cir. 2012) (overruling prior practice of requiring repleading for appeal preservation); United States *ex rel*. Aktinson v. Pa. Shipbuilding Co., 473 F.3d 506, 516 (3d Cir. 2007); *Young*, 238 F.3d at 572; Crysen/Montenay Energy Co. v. Shell Oil & Scallop Petroleum Co. (*In re* Crysen), 226 F.3d 160, 162 (2d Cir. 2000); Dunn v. Air Line Pilots Ass'n, 193 F.3d 1185, 1191 n.5 (11th Cir. 1999); Davis v. TXO Prod. Corp., 929 F.2d 1515, 1518 (10th Cir. 1991). But, as these opinions clarify, claims dismissed without prejudice (or with leave to amend or leave to replead) must be repleaded in any amended pleading to keep them alive in the case and preserve them for appeal.

^{21.} See FED. R. CIV. P. 7(a). A reply is a pleading responding to a defendant's answer. See *id.* at 7(a)(7); see also Reply, BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (Bryan A. Garner ed., 9th ed. 2009) (defining a "reply" as "the plaintiff's response . . . , by court order, to the defendant's . . . answer."). Unless addressing a counterclaim, replies are not mandatory, and indeed, require court order. See FED. R. CIV. P. 7(a)(7) (listing the seven possible pleadings and noting a reply is a pleading only "if the court orders one"); FED. R. CIV. P. 7 advisory committee's note to 1946 amendment (clarifying that replies to answers, as opposed to counterclaims, are not mandatory); FED. R. CIV. P. 12(a)(1)(C) (noting that the deadline to file a reply applies only "after being served with an order to reply . . . "). A party that completely fails to respond to a counterclaim, or a crossclaim, risks Rule 55 default judgment. See Campbell Harrison & Dagley, L.L.P. v. PBL Multi-Strategy Fund, L.P., 744 F. App'x 192, 203 n.55 (5th Cir. 2018); AMI Stamping, LLC v. ACE Am. Ins. Co., 709 F. App'x 354, 359 (6th Cir. 2017).

^{22.} See FED. R. CIV. P. 7(a)(7).

^{23.} See Nelson v. Adams USA, Inc., 529 U.S. 460, 466–67 (2000); see also Lucente v. Int'l Bus. Machs. Corp., 310 F.3d 243, 260 (2d Cir. 2002); Wagner v. Choice Home Lending, 266 F.R.D. 354, 357 (D. Ariz. 2009).

to respond to an amended complaint. The current text of Rule 15(a) does not provide a clear directive on this score either. Rule 15(a)(3) states that "[u]nless the court orders otherwise, any required response to an amended pleading must be made within the time remaining to respond to the original pleading or within 14 days after service of the amended pleading, whichever is later."²⁴ The current language, it seems, addresses only the timing of any required response, not a requirement to serve a responsive pleading.²⁵ On the other hand, prior to the 2007 Rules amendments, Rule 15(a) read: "A party shall plead in response to an amended pleading within the time remaining for response to the original pleading or within 10 days after service of the amended pleading, whichever period may be the longer, unless the court otherwise orders."²⁶ That older language, in the eyes of some, expressed an obligation to respond to an amended pleading, at least as to the parts actually amended.²⁷ When one further notes that the Advisory Committee Notes on the 2007 amendments to Rule 15 state that the changes were "intended to be stylistic only," arguably, the current Rule 15 requires defendants to serve amended answers.²⁸

It should not be surprising, then, that the circuit courts split on whether defendants have an obligation to file an amended answer to every amended complaint filed. Some courts find such a duty and strictly enforce it.²⁹ Other courts, however, hold that a defendant does not have a duty to respond to an amended complaint (or does not enforce that duty) when the amendments do not materially alter the substance of the complaint.³⁰ But even this latter group finds a duty to answer to the extent the amended complaint contains new allegations because the failure to file an amended answer in such an instance would result in the new allegations being admitted by operation of Rule 8(b)(6).³¹

Assuming that a defendant must serve an amended answer to an amended complaint, or that the defendant does so voluntarily, there is a second-order question of how much information must be included in this amended answer. Once again, we find that Rule 15 does not specify any particular form for amended answers. The best practice, of course, is to file a completely new answer, even if the amended complaint contains just a few changes to the prior complaint and correspondingly few changes to

^{24.} FED. R. CIV. P. 15(a)(3).

^{25.} See, e.g., KST Data, Inc. v. DXC Tech. Co., 980 F.3d 709, 715 (9th Cir. 2020) ("[B]y its plain terms, Rule 15(a)(3) does not render a prior response to a prior pleading moot and require the filing of a new answer.").

^{26.} FED. R. CIV. P. 15(a) (1993) (amended 2007) (emphasis added).

^{27.} See, e.g., Burton v. Ghosh, 961 F.3d 960, 968 n.4 (7th Cir. 2020).

^{28.} See FED. R. CIV. P. 15 advisory committee's note to 2007 amendment.

^{29.} See, e.g., Burton, 961 F.3d at 968 ("[A] new answer is *required* when a complaint is amended.") (emphasis in original); Ashley v. Jaipersaud, 544 F. App'x 827, 829 (11th Cir. 2013) (holding that a failure to answer an amended complaint resulted in admission of the allegations raised by the opposing party).

^{30.} See, e.g., KST Data, 980 F.3d at 715; Edelman v. Belco Title & Escrow, LLC, 754 F.3d 389, 394–95 (7th Cir. 2014).

^{31.} FED. R. CIV. P. 8(b)(6) ("An allegation—other than one relating to the amount of damages—is admitted if a responsive pleading is required and the allegation is not denied.").

the answer.³² Indeed, many federal districts require this by local rule, and individual judges may require it pursuant to their case-management powers.³³ In some districts, however, it remains possible to file an addendum to the existing pleadings or to incorporate portions of the earlier pleadings by reference.³⁴

This state of affairs sets the stage for the circuit split that the Tenth Circuit tackled in *Sinclair*. The basic fact pattern forming the split is: In response to the original or a prior amended complaint, the defendant answered and included counterclaims in that answer. At a later time, the plaintiff served an amended complaint that did not address the counterclaims. In response, the defendant either did not file an amended answer or served an amended answer that omitted the counterclaims previously brought. This fact pattern raises the question of whether the defendant waived originally pleaded counterclaims in the amended answer.

Importantly, *Sinclair* did not address whether an initially omitted counterclaim may be included in a later-in-time amended answer. Rather, the issue in *Sinclair* was whether counterclaims, timely raised in the prior answer, must be repleaded.³⁵ The law as to initially omitted counterclaims is clearer than the law on the need to replead counterclaims. Defendants with mature compulsory counterclaims at the time of the original answer who failed to assert them must file an amended answer, via Rule 15(a), that asserts the counterclaim or face exclusion of the issue from the instant suit and, in the case of compulsory counterclaims face the same regime for postoriginal-answer inclusion, except that permanent waiver in future suits is not at issue.³⁷ Prior to 2009, Rule 13(f) addressed the assertion of omitted counterclaims.³⁸ The courts, however, generally construed Rule 13(f) as coextensive with the Rule 15(a) standards for amendments to the pleadings.³⁹ Thus, Rule 13(f) was abrogated, leaving amendment of answers to

^{32.} See RULES AND COMMENTARY, supra note 3, at 429 ("While Rule 10(c) expressly allows parties to incorporate past pleadings, this method then requires both the parties and the court to flip back and forth between multiple documents. That may have been a justifiable result in the days of typewritten pleadings, but it makes little sense today given the ease of revising documents using modern word processing technology.").

^{33.} See Rieco v. Bronsburg, 674 F. App'x 110, 113 (3d Cir. 2017) ("[A] district court may require a plaintiff to prepare a single, amended pleading when it would facilitate managing the case").

^{34.} See FED. R. CIV. P. 10(c) (allowing parties to incorporate past pleadings by reference); Rasidescu v. Midland Credit Mgmt., 435 F. Supp. 2d 1090, 1101 (S.D. Cal. 2006) (noting the possibility of incorporation by reference).

^{35.} Sinclair Wyo. Refin. Co. v. A & B Builders, 989 F.3d 747, 776-78 (10th Cir. 2021).

^{36.} See FED. R. CIV. P. 13(a); Baker v. Cold Seal Liquors, Inc., 417 U.S. 467, 469 n.1 (1974) ("A counterclaim which is compulsory but is not brought is thereafter barred").

^{37.} See, e.g., FED. R. CIV. P. 13(b); Islamic Republic Iran v. Boeing Co., 771 F.2d 1279, 1286–87 (9th Cir. 1985).

^{38.} FED. R. CIV. P. 13(f) (2008) (abrogated 2009).

^{39.} See, e.g., Newport News Holdings Corp. v. Virtual City Vision, 650 F.3d 423, 439 (4th Cir. 2011); Langbord v. U.S. Dept. Treasury, 749 F. Supp. 2d 268, 272 (E.D. Pa. 2010), affd on reh'g, 832 F.3d 170, 202–03 (3d Cir. 2016); Rimkus Consulting Grp., Inc. v. Cammarata, 257 F.R.D. 127, 134 (S.D. Tex. 2009).

include omitted counterclaims to Rule 15(a).⁴⁰ Under Rule 15(a)'s structure, a party has three possible pathways for amending its answer to assert an omitted counterclaim: (1) it may be able to do so "as a matter of course"; (2) it can seek the opposing party's consent; or (3) it can seek leave of court.⁴¹ Returning, then, to the question of a requirement to replead counterclaims in the face of an amended complaint or face abandonment, the courts fall into two broad camps: the strict approach and the permissive approach.

B. Strict Approach

We first review the strict approach to the requirement to replead counterclaims in amended answers. The strict approach deems all counterclaims waived unless explicitly included in each subsequent answer, basing this reading upon a textualist interpretation of the Rules.⁴² Two circuits and several district courts adopt this approach.

The lead circuit ruling for the strict view is the Federal Circuit's *General Mills, Inc. v. Kraft Foods Global, Inc.* opinion.⁴³ This suit, brought by General Mills, centered upon a patent infringement claim regarding rolled fruit snacks.⁴⁴ Kraft answered, denying the infringement and related claims.⁴⁵ Kraft also brought a counterclaim, alleging that General Mills breached a prior settlement agreement by bringing this infringement suit.⁴⁶ General Mills then amended its complaint to include a breach of contract

^{40.} See FED. R. CIV. P. 13 advisory committee's note on 2009 amendments.

^{41.} FED. R. CIV. P. 15(a). Note, however, that if the Rule 16 scheduling order deadline for amending the pleadings has passed, then the process has two steps. First, the party must show good cause to modify the scheduling order under Rule 16(b)(4). Second, the party must obtain leave to amend its answer under Rule 15(a)(2). *See, e.g.*, Ground Zero Museum Workshop v. Wilson, 813 F. Supp. 2d 678, 706–07 (D. Md. 2011). Further, the Rules treat a supplemented, as opposed to amended, complaint differently. *See* RULES AND COMMENTARY, *supra* note 3, at 482 ("A supplemental pleading is not an amended pleading. Whereas an amended pleading relates to matters that occurred before the original complaint was filed, a supplemental pleading sets forth transactions, occurrences, or events that took place after the original complaint was filed."). With supplemental complaints, the courts do not require re-pleading counterclaims because, unlike an amended complaint, a supplemented complaint does not replace the original pleading. *See, e.g.*, Z View Enters. v. Giant Eagle, Inc., 834 F. App'x. 709, 712 (3d Cir. 2020).

^{42.} See Uniroyal Chem. Co. v. Syngenta Crop Prot., Inc., No. 3:02CV02253, 2005 WL 677806, at *2 (D. Conn. Mar. 23, 2005) (holding that where "the amended complaint does not change the scope of the action, a defendant should obtain leave of court before adding a new counterclaim that would change the scope of the case."); see also Wechsler v. Hunt Health Sys. Ltd., 186 F. Supp. 2d 402, 410 (S.D.N.Y. 2002).

^{43. 487} F.3d 1368 (Fed. Cir. 2007), aff'd and clarified on reh'g, 495 F.3d 1378 (Fed. Cir. 2007).

^{44.} Gen. Mills, 487 F.3d at 1370–71. The item at issue in this suit was "Fruit by the Foot." See id. at 1371; Fruit by the Foot, WIKIPEDIA, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Fruit_by_the_Foot (last visited Dec. 19, 2022). Perhaps more famously, General Mills also marketed similar snacks as "Fruit Roll-Ups" and sold them under the Betty Crocker label. See Fruit Roll-Ups, WIKIPEDIA, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Fruit Roll-Ups (last visited Dec. 19, 2022).

^{45.} Gen. Mills, 487 F.3d at 1372.

^{46.} *Id.*

claim of its own.⁴⁷ "Kraft never answered the amended complaint or reasserted its counterclaim."⁴⁸ Rather, it filed a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss the amended complaint on both the infringement and breach of contract claims.⁴⁹ The district court dismissed the infringement claim on the merits and then declined to retain supplemental jurisdiction over the nondiverse breach of contract claim, per 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c).⁵⁰ As to Kraft's counterclaim, the district court reasoned that "because Kraft did not reassert its counterclaim in response to the amended complaint, no counterclaim was pending when the district court entered judgment and that the judgment was therefore final and complete."⁵¹

The Federal Circuit affirmed.⁵² The circuit court noted that "[t]he amended complaint, unlike the original complaint, attached the Settlement Agreement as an exhibit."⁵³ This Settlement Agreement was key because the breach of contract counterclaim was also based on it.⁵⁴ Importantly to the circuit, Kraft moved to dismiss, but it did not, in the circuit's view, timely file an amended answer to the amended complaint, and as such, it did not reassert its counterclaim.⁵⁵ Consequently, the court held that the counterclaim was abandoned when the defendant did not respond to the amended complaint in a timely manner.⁵⁶ Although the Federal Circuit was likely incorrect in finding that an amended answer was due,⁵⁷ our focus is instead on the court's holding that, assuming an amended answer

- 51. *Id.* at 1373.
- 52. *Id.* at 1377.
 53. *Id.* at 1372.
- 53. *Id.* at 1372 54. *Id.*
- 54. *Ia.* 55. *Id.*
- 55. Ia.56. Id. at 1376–77.
- $30. \quad 1a. \text{ at } 15/0-7$

57. A pre-answer motion, filed in response to an original pleading, tolls when a responsive pleading is due. See FED. R. CIV. P. 12(a)(4). The Federal Circuit did not apply Rule 12(a)(4) in General Mills, however, because Kraft's pre-answer motion was filed in the face of an amended complaint. See Gen. Mills, 487 F.3d at 1376. Rule 12(a)(4)'s tolling provision alters the time periods set forth in Rule 12(a)(1) to (3) but the time to respond to an amended pleading is set forth not in Rule 12(a) but in Rule 15(a)(3). See FED. R. CIV. P. 12(a)(4); see also FED. R. CIV. P. 15(a)(3). Thus, the Federal Circuit held that Rule 12(a)(4) tolling does not apply when parties respond to amended pleadings with pre-answer motions. Rather, it held that the Rule 15(a)(3) deadline, which was then ten days, applied regardless of whether a pre-answer motion had been filed. See Gen. Mills, 487 F.3d at 1376. Arguably, the circuit's interpretation of the tolling rule was incorrect at the time it issued its opinion. See, e.g., Direct Enters., Inc. v. Sensient Colors LLC, No. 1:15-cv-01333-JMS-TAB, 2017 WL 2985623, at *3 n.2 (S.D. Ind. July 13, 2017) (determining that the same policy reasons for tolling apply whether a pre-answer motion is directed against the original complaint or an amended complaint); Jones v. Chase Home Fin., No. 1:12-CV-542-CAP, 2012 WL 13012354, at *4 (N.D. Ga. June 18, 2012) (rejecting the reasoning of General Mills and refusing to apply Rules 12 and 15 in a "rigid" fashion that "would circumvent the purpose of Rule 12(a)(4)"); Mgmt. Registry, Inc. v. A.W. Co., Inc., No. 0:17-cv-5009-JRT-KMM, 2020 WL 468846, at *2 (D. Minn. Jan. 29, 2020) (applying the reasoning of Direct Enterprises); Tenser v. Ryan, No. CV 19-05496 VBF, 2020 WL 4760192, at *5 (C.D. Cal. May 26, 2020), report and recommendation adopted, 2020 WL 5946078 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 7, 2020), aff'd, Tenser v. Silverman, 2021 WL 4958986 (9th Cir. Oct. 26, 2021) (similar). Indeed, numerous other courts simply assume the Rule 12(a)(4) tolling rule applies to pre-answer motions to amended complaints, likely on purposivist grounds. See, e.g., Mullane v. Barclays Bank Del. Inc., No. 1:18-CV-20596-

^{47.} Id.

^{48.} Id.

^{49.} *Id*.

^{50.} Id. at 1372–73.

was due, the failure to replead counterclaims abandoned them.58

The Third Circuit similarly adopted the strict approach in an unpublished opinion that offered scant rationale for its holding. The Third Circuit held that because the defendant "decided to omit from its amended answer its patent counterclaims The amended pleadings 'supersede[] the original [pleadings] and render [them] of no legal effect."⁵⁹ The circuit's focus here was on the notion that amended pleadings "supersede" any subsequent pleadings.⁶⁰

Several district courts have adopted the strict approach as well. One of the most cited of these cases is the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri's Johnson v. Berry opinion.⁶¹ In this case, Johnnie Johnson, rock and roll star Chuck Berry's pianist,62 alleged a copyright interest, and other related claims, in thirty-three of Berry's hit songs.63 Berry answered and brought a trademark counterclaim as to the use of the phrase, "The Father of Rock and Roll."64 Johnson later amended his complaint, but Berry failed to serve an amended answer.⁶⁵ The court concluded that this failure to replead abandoned the trademark counterclaim.⁶⁶ In its analysis, the court first took note of the last sentence of Rule 15(a)(3)—as then drafted-which "requires a party to plead in response to an amended pleading. No option is given merely to stand on preexisting pleadings made in response to an earlier complaint."67 The court went on to reason that the texts of Rule 13(a) and (b) make clear that "a counterclaim is part of the responsive pleading[, and by] ... failing to plead in response to the first amended complaint, and therein to replead his counterclaim, Berry abandoned his counterclaim, which effectively dropped [it] from the case."68

Several other district courts have adopted this strict approach as well, often citing *Johnson*. For instance, the U.S. District Court for the District

MORENO/LOUIS, 2018 WL 1835933, at *1 (S.D. Fla. Apr. 9, 2018), *objections overruled*, 2018 WL 1835934 (S.D. Fla. Apr. 17, 2018); Iraheta v. Equifax Info. Serv., LLC, No. 5:17-cv-1363, 2018 WL 3381419, at *2 (W.D. La. July 10, 2018); Robles v. Amarr Garage Doors, No. 11–2707–JAR–DJW, 2012 WL 4867289, at *2–3 (D. Kan. Oct. 15, 2012), *aff* 'd, 509 F. App'x 741 (10th Cir. 2013); DeVary v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., 701 F. Supp. 2d 1096, 1111 (D. Minn. 2010); McKenzie v. AAA Auto Fam. Ins. Co., No. 10–2160–KHV, 2010 WL 3718861, at *6 (D. Kan. Sept. 13, 2010). In any event, it now appears that the tolling result in *General Mills* was altered by the 2007 amendments to Rule 15(a)(3). *See supra* text accompanying notes 26–28.

^{58.} See Gen. Mills, 487 F.3d at 1376–77.

^{59.} Par Pharm., Inc. v. QuVa Pharma, Inc., 764 F. App'x 273, 277 n.3 (3d Cir. 2019) (alteration in original).

^{60.} See id.; see also cases cited supra note 18 (discussing issue of superseding prior pleadings).

^{61. 228} F. Supp. 2d 1071 (E.D. Mo. 2002).

^{62.} For an introduction to Chuck Berry, who is an inaugural member of the Rock and Roll Hall of Fame, see *Chuck Berry*, ROCK & ROLL HALL FAME, https://www.rockhall.com/inductees/chuckberry (last visited Dec. 19, 2022).

^{63.} Johnson, 228 F. Supp. 2d at 1072-73.

^{64.} Id. at 1079.

^{65.} Id.

^{66.} Id.

^{67.} Id.

^{68.} Id.

of Minnesota, in *Bremer Bank v. John Hancock Life Insurance Co.*,⁶⁹ applied *Johnson* when the defendant failed to replead its indemnification counterclaims in its amended answer when two years had passed since the filing of the amended complaint.⁷⁰ Similarly, in *Essex Insurance Co. v. Sheppard & Sons Construction, Inc.*,⁷¹ the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma held, in a declaratory judgment action regarding an insurance contract, that the defendant's failure to replead breach-of-insurance contract counterclaims in the amended answer constituted abandonment because the amended answer supersedes the original answer.⁷² Several other district courts have issued similar opinions.⁷³

The hallmark of those opinions taking a strict approach is a brand of textualism. Thus, the courts in this camp tend to ignore an analysis of whether the inclusion of the counterclaim would cause prejudice to the plaintiff⁷⁴ in a manner akin to a Rule 15(a) leave-to-amend analysis under *Foman v. Davis*.⁷⁵ Rather, these courts focus upon Rule 13(a)(1)'s textual imperative that: "[a] pleading must state as a counterclaim";⁷⁶ the textual instruction from Rule 7(a) that only complaints, answers, and replies are pleadings;⁷⁷ and the notion implicit from Rule 15(a)'s text that amended pleadings supersede and void prior ones.⁷⁸ Because textualist principles do not construe a superseded pleading as a Rule 7 pleading, defendants cannot rely upon such past pleading of a counterclaim, even in situations where there is no prejudice to the plaintiff in so relying.

C. Permissive Approach

On the other side of the circuit split, we find the so-called permissive approach. Courts on this side of the divide tend to eschew the strict approach's brand of textualism. Courts adopting the permissive approach instead look to purposive interpretive methods to ground an analysis upon

^{69.} No. CIV. 06-1534 ADM/JSM, 2009 WL 702009 (D. Minn. Mar. 13, 2009).

^{70.} *Id.* at *12 (citing *Johnson*, 228 F. Supp. 2d at 1079), *aff'd sub nom.*, Bremer Bank v. John Hancock Life Ins., 601 F.3d 824 (8th Cir. 2010).

^{71.} No. CIV-12-1022-D, 2015 WL 11752917 (W.D. Okla. July 9, 2015).

^{72.} Id. at *10.

^{73.} See, e.g., Pa. Nat'l Mut. Cas. Ins. Co. v. Snider, 996 F. Supp. 2d 1173, 1180 n.8 (M.D. Ala. 2014) ("Because the . . . [d]efendants failed to answer Penn National's amended complaint, and therefore, never reasserted their counterclaims, the Court finds that the . . . [d]efendants' duty to defend counterclaims w[as] abandoned."); Settlement Cap. v. Pagan, 649 F. Supp. 2d 545, 562 (N.D. Tex. 2009) ("While [the defendants] asserted counterclaims for slander of title in their original answer, these counterclaims were not reasserted in their amended answer and thus have been abandoned."); Designing Health, Inc. v. Erasmus, No. CV-98-4758 LGB (CWx), 2001 WL 36239751, at *3 (C.D. Cal. Apr. 23, 2001) (holding that the counterclaims that were not repleaded in response to an amended complaint are abandoned); *cf.* Doe v. Williston Northampton Sch., 766 F. Supp. 2d 310, 313–14 (D. Mass. 2011) (granting motion to dismiss counterclaims for failure to prosecute pursuant to Rule 41(b) where the counterclaims were not reasserted in response to amended complaints).

^{74.} *Bremer Bank* is an exception as it looks to the passage of two years, lack of discovery, and proximity to the date of adjudication. *See Bremer Bank*, 2009 WL 702009, at *12.

^{75. 371} U.S. 178, 182 (1962) (holding that leave to amend must be granted absent prejudice, undue delay, bad faith, futility, or repeated failure to cure).

^{76.} FED. R. CIV. P. 13(a)(1).
77. See FED. R. CIV. P. 7(a).

^{78.} See cases cited supra note 18 (discussing issue of superseding prior pleadings).

*Foman*⁷⁹ prejudice factors. The courts in the permissive camp tend to highlight that the overarching purpose of the Rules, as embodied in Rule 1, is to provide the "just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action and proceeding"⁸⁰ and that overlooking a non-prejudicial omission better comports with such a purpose.⁸¹ We turn to an overview of these opinions next.

The lead circuit opinion for the permissive approach is Davis v. White.82 In this case, the Eighth Circuit took a permissive approach to a defendant's need to replead counterclaims, underscoring the discretion granted to courts on the matter. Here, the Ferguson, Missouri police arrested Henry Davis for drunk driving, and he eventually pleaded guilty to careless driving charges.⁸³ During his detention after the arrest, a fight ensued between Davis and police officers at the jail.⁸⁴ Davis alleged that, due to excessive force, he suffered a concussion and scalp lacerations.⁸⁵ One of the defendants, Officer White, alleged that he suffered a broken nose that required immediate surgery.86 Davis brought a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim against the officers and the city for use of excessive force as well as related state law torts.⁸⁷ White counterclaimed for assault and battery.⁸⁸ In response, Davis "filed interrogatories addressing the counterclaim."89 The civil case bogged, waiting for the conclusion of the criminal case, at which time Davis served an amended complaint.⁹⁰ White's amended answer did not replead the counterclaim.⁹¹ Nevertheless, White responded to Davis's interrogatories concerning the counterclaim, and Davis moved to compel supplemental responses.⁹² The district court then granted Davis's motion to compel in part, and White served the supplemental responses.⁹³ Moreover, at deposition, defense counsel specifically asked Davis "if he understood that he was 'named as a defendant in a counterclaim," and Davis

^{79. 371} U.S. at 182 (holding that leave to amend must be granted absent prejudice, undue delay, bad faith, futility, or repeated failure to cure).

^{80.} FED. R. CIV. P. 1.

^{81.} See Davis v. White, 794 F.3d 1008, 1015–16 (8th Cir. 2015) (emphasizing the significance of flexibility when interpreting the Rules); see also KST Data, Inc. v. DXC Tech. Co., 980 F.3d 709, 716 (9th Cir. 2020) (noting the superfluity of reasserting affirmative defenses in response to an amended complaint); Ground Zero Museum Workshop v. Wilson, 813 F. Supp. 2d 678, 705–06 (D. Md. 2011) (taking a holistic and practical approach on analyzing the need to the reassert counterclaims); Hughes v. Abell, 867 F. Supp. 2d 76, 91 (D.D.C. 2012) (same); Schutt *ex rel.* A.S. v. Garland Indep. Sch. Dist., No. 3:17-CV-1708-B, 2019 WL 3006768, at *3 (N.D. Tex. July 9, 2019) (same); Mathews v. Ohio Pub. Emps. Ret. Sys., No. 2:12–cv–1033, 2014 WL 4748472, at *4–6 (S.D. Ohio Sept. 23, 2014) (same).

^{82. 794} F.3d 1008 (8th Cir 2015).

^{83.} Id. at 1011.

^{84.} Id.

^{85.} Id.

^{86.} Id.

^{87.} *Id.* at 1011–12.

^{88.} *Id.* at 1011.

^{89.} *Id.* at 1011.

^{90.} Id.

^{91.} Id.

^{92.} Id.

^{93.} Id.

answered, "Yes."94

As trial drew near, Davis moved the district court to bar trial of the counterclaim because White abandoned it by failing to replead it.⁹⁵ The district court denied this motion.⁹⁶ The Eighth Circuit affirmed.⁹⁷

In so holding, the Eighth Circuit determined that Rules 15(a)(2) and (3) give district courts the discretion to grant or deny motions that deem counterclaims abandoned.⁹⁸ Additionally, the circuit addressed the textual need to place a counterclaim in a pleading by looking to the unamended answer. "Though Rule 13(a)(1) requires that a compulsory counterclaim be stated in a pleading, that term was used to clarify that counterclaims could be asserted in pleadings other than the answer."⁹⁹ The circuit did not wrestle with the notion that an amended pleading supersedes and voids a prior one and thus the corollary that the counterclaim in the prior pleading is not itself void.¹⁰⁰ Ultimately, however, the circuit looked to the Rules' purpose, which is to provide "just, speedy, and inexpensive" outcomes.¹⁰¹ The Eighth Circuit consequently elected to champion a flexible rule that better aligns with "the interests of justice," because sufficient notice was provided to the plaintiff and no prejudice, as the *Foman* opinion deploys the term, was demonstrated.¹⁰²

Several district courts have examined the issue and elected a permissive approach as well.¹⁰³ The U.S. District Court for the District of Mary-

102. *Id.* at 1015–16; *see also* KST Data, Inc. v. DXC Tech. Co., 980 F.3d 709, 711 (9th Cir. 2020) (holding, for similar reasons, that absent a showing of prejudice defendant need not replead affirmative defenses in subsequent amended answers).

See, e.g., Freedom Med., Inc. v. Gillespie, No. CIV.A. 06-3195, 2013 WL 3819366, at *4, 103. *12 (E.D. Pa. July 24, 2013); Performance Sales & Mktg. v. Lowe's Cos., No. 5:07-cv-00140-RLV-DSC, 2013 WL 4494687, at *9 n.2 (W.D.N.C. Aug. 20, 2013) ("Although Lowe's has yet to file an Answer in response to Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint, it has already set forth its counterclaim within its Answer to the original Complaint."); AVKO Educ. Rsch. Found. v. Morrow, No. 11-13381, 2013 WL 1395824, at *10 (E.D. Mich. Apr. 5, 2013) (holding that court should not dismiss counterclaim merely because it was not refiled); Cairo Marine Serv. v. Homeland Ins. Co., No. 4:09CV1492 CDP, 2010 WL 4614693, at *3-4 (E.D. Mo. Nov. 4, 2010); Steele v. Turner Broad. Sys., 607 F. Supp. 2d 258, 262 (D. Mass. 2009); Bradley v. Smith, 235 F.R.D. 125, 127 (D.D.C. 2006) (holding plaintiff's pleadings should be construed broadly and "presumes that plaintiff did not abandon claims raised in the original complaint."); U.S. Bank Nat'l v. Safeguard Ins. Co., 422 F. Supp. 2d 698, 701 n.1 (N.D. Tex. 2006); Dunkin' Donuts v. Romanias, No. 00-1886, 2002 WL 32955492, at *1-2 (W.D. Pa. May 29, 2002); cf. Hitachi Med. Sys. Am., Inc. v. Horizon Med. Grp., No. 5:07CV02035, 2008 WL 5723531, at *5-6 (N.D. Ohio Aug. 29, 2008) (denying plaintiff's motion to strike counterclaim because it was untimely repleaded in response to amended complaint). See also UDAP Indus. v. Bushwacker Backpack & Supply Co., No. CV 16-27-BU-JCL, 2017 WL 1653260, at *3 (D. Mont. May 2,

^{94.} Id.

^{95.} Id.

^{96.} *Id.*

^{97.} Id. at 1016.

^{98.} *Id.* at 1015; *see also* FED. R. CIV. P. 15(a)(2)-(3) ("The court should freely give leave when justice so requires.... Unless the court orders otherwise, any required response to an amended pleading must be made....").

^{99.} Davis, 794 F.3d at 1015 (internal quotation marks omitted).

^{100.} See cases cited supra note 18 (discussing issue of superseding prior pleadings).

^{101.} Davis, 794 F.3d at 1015 (quoting FED. R. CIV. P. 1).

land thoroughly discussed the permissive approach in its Ground Zero Museum Workshop v. Wilson¹⁰⁴ opinion and cites many of the leading cases.¹⁰⁵ There, the Plaintiffs, after an agreement to modify the Plaintiff museum's website fell apart, sued the website designer, William Wilson, for copyright violations, conversion, defamation, tortious interference in a business relationship, and intentional infliction of emotional distress.¹⁰⁶ Wilson answered and counterclaimed for fraud, breach of implied contract, quantum meruit, unjust enrichment, breach of contract, trademark infringement, and misuse of trade secrets.¹⁰⁷ At summary judgment, the museum argued that Wilson's "counterclaims were waived or abandoned when not reasserted in his answer to the first and second amended complaints."108

The district court rejected the museum's argument. The court emphasized that "the few courts" that have considered the issue "have not reached a consensus."109 Opting to take the permissive approach, 110 the court reasoned that:

Rule 13, which governs counterclaims, requires only that a counterclaim be set forth in a pleading-it does not mandate that it be contained in an answer. . . . Further, an answer responds to the allegations in a complaint, a counterclaim is something independent. Revisions to a complaint do not require revisions to a counterclaim.¹¹¹

Thus, like the Eighth Circuit, the district court treated the prior answer's inclusion of the counterclaims as satisfying Rule 13's requirement to include counterclaims in a pleading even though that runs contrary to the text of Rule 7(a), which does not include "prior answers" in its textual definition of pleadings.

The court then discussed Wilson's intent as part of a prejudice analysis. In this regard, the court reviewed the numerous times during the litigation when Wilson continued to pursue his counterclaim.¹¹² All of this culminated with the court concluding that Wilson had not waived his counterclaim but instead had manifested a strong intent to continue to pursue

^{2017) (}allowing counterclaims without leave of court "only when the amended complaint changes the theory or scope of the case, and then, the breadth of the changes in the amended response must reflect the breadth of the changes in the amended complaint.") (quoting Bern Unlimited v. Burton Corp., 25 F. Supp. 3d 170, 177 (D. Mass 2014)); Patel v. Pandya, No. 14-8127, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 71710, at *6 (D.N.J. June 2, 2016); Poly-Med, Inc. v. Novus Sci. Pte. Ltd., No. 8:15-cv-01964-JMC, 2017 WL 2874715, at *6 (D.S.C. July 6, 2017).

^{104. 813} F. Supp. 2d 678 (D. Md. 2011).

^{105.} Id. at 705-06.

Id. at 688. 106.

^{107.} Id.

^{108.} Id. at 705.

^{109.} Id.

^{110.}

Id. at 705-06.

^{111.} Id. at 706 (emphasis added) (quoting Dunkin' Donuts v. Romanias, No. Civ.A. 00-1886, 2002 WL 32955492, at *2 (W.D. Pa. May 29, 2002)).

^{112.} Id.

it.¹¹³ Given that the purpose of the Rules is to promote on-the-merits adjudication,¹¹⁴ such an intent analysis (coupled with lack of prejudice to the plaintiff) makes sense from the permissive camp's vantage point.¹¹⁵

D. The Tenth Circuit Adopts the Permissive Approach

This sets the stage, then, for the Tenth Circuit's entry into this debate. In *Sinclair*, the plaintiff, Sinclair Wyoming Refining Co., argued that the defendants, various contractors, waived their indemnity counterclaims by failing to replead them in their subsequent answers to Sinclair Wyoming's two amended complaints.¹¹⁶ As part of its analysis, the court in *Sinclair* addressed the split on the matter.¹¹⁷ It characterized the strict approach as based on the rule that an amended answer "supersedes previous answers, render[ing] them of no legal effect."¹¹⁸ The Tenth Circuit characterized the permissive approach as "permitting a defendant to pursue its counterclaim unless the plaintiff shows that the failure to replead it caused prejudice."¹¹⁹ Ultimately, the Tenth Circuit held that the contractors were permitted to assert their indemnity counterclaims despite their failure to replead them, adopting the permissive approach.¹²⁰

After introducing the circuit split, the Tenth Circuit turned to the text of Rules 13 and 7, which form the foundation of the strict approach, observing that:

116. Sinclair Wyo. Ref. Co. v. A & B Builders, 989 F.3d 747, 774 (10th Cir. 2021).

^{113.} Id.

^{114.} See, e.g., Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 181-82 ("It is too late in the day and entirely contrary to the spirit of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for decisions on the merits to be avoided on the basis of mere technicalities.... [Indeed, the objective of the Rules is to] facilitate a proper decision on the merits.") (internal quotation marks omitted); United States v. F. & M. Schaefer Brewing Co., 356 U.S. 227, 240 (1958) (Frankfurter, J., dissenting) ("Simplicity and speed, when consonant with effective protection of the interests of the parties, are touchstones for the interpretation of all the Rules, especially those strategically placed to advance the litigation to its final conclusion."); Kuehl v. FDIC, 8 F.3d 905, 908 (1st Cir. 1993) ("Our federal rules promote the disposition of claims on the merits rather than on the basis of technicalities, ... and courts should be reluctant to impose a dismissal with prejudice for a rules violation that is neither persistent nor vexatious, particularly without some review of the merits.") (citation omitted); Stevo v. Frasor, 662 F.3d 880, 887 (7th Cir. 2011) ("Local rules, like the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure that they supplement, should be construed to provide for the 'just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action' on its merits.") (citation omitted); In re Phenylpropanolamine (PPA) Prods. Liab. Litig., 460 F.3d 1217, 1222 (9th Cir. 2006) (holding that the Rules promote "the public policy favoring the disposition of cases on their merits"); Am. Sec. Bank, N.A. v. John Y. Harrison Realty, Inc., 670 F.2d 317, 323 (D.C. Cir. 1982) ("The philosophy of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure is to promote decisions on the merits whenever that is possible without prejudicing the parties unduly.").

^{115.} Several other cases look to prejudice or equities in adopting the permissive approach. See, e.g., Schutt ex rel. A.S. v. Garland Indep. Sch. Dist., No. 3:17-CV-1708-B, 2019 WL 3006768, at *2–3 (N.D. Tex. July 9, 2019); Fenzel v. Grp. 2 Software, LLC, No. DKC 13-0379, 2016 WL 865363, at *3 n.3 (D. Md. Mar. 7, 2016); Mathews v. Ohio Pub. Emps. Ret. Sys., No. 2:12-cv-1033, 2014 WL 4748472, at *4–5 (S.D. Ohio Sept. 23, 2014); Hughes v. Abell, 867 F. Supp. 2d 76, 91 (D.D.C. 2012); Hitachi Med. Sys. Am., Inc. v. Horizon Med., No. 5:07CV02035, 2008 WL 5723531, at *4 (N.D. Ohio Aug. 29, 2008).

^{117.} Id. at 775.

^{118.} *Id.* at 776 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Par Pharm. v. QuVa Pharma, 764 F. App'x 273, 277 n.3 (3d Cir. 2019)).

^{119.} *Id.*

^{120.} Id. at 778.

It would be reasonable to conclude from these two rules that a counterclaim is not a distinct pleading, but rather must be included as part of another pleading, such as an answer. And it is certainly true that "[o]nce an amended pleading is interposed, the original pleading no longer performs any function in the case. . . . Accordingly, it is reasonable for [the plaintiff] to assert that when [the defendant] replaced its answer with an answer that did not contain counterclaims, the pleading that was before the Court (the new answer) did not contain counterclaims.¹²¹

Nevertheless, the Tenth Circuit, relying on the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia's opinion in *Hughes v. Abell*,¹²² determined that this conclusion would incorrectly put "form over substance," and that counterclaims are "distinct from defenses, admissions, and denials."¹²³ From a purposivist perspective, this rings true because a counterclaim is more akin to a complaint than a denial or a defense.¹²⁴ In fact, "[i]t is not especially intuitive that a counterclaim is part of the pleading to which it is attached, nor is it obvious that counterclaims must be re-pled when an answer with counterclaims attached is superseded."¹²⁵ Thus, the Tenth Circuit rejected the unyielding textualism of the strict approach in favor of an interpretive stance that focuses on the purposes of the provisions involved.

The Tenth Circuit next examined the Eighth Circuit's *Davis* opinion. The Tenth Circuit followed the Eighth's lead in again rejecting the textualism of the strict approach. Like the Eighth Circuit, the Tenth held that the Rules grant district courts discretion in determining whether a counterclaim is abandoned because Rules 15(a)(2) and (3) contain discretionary language.¹²⁶ Moreover, again following the Eighth Circuit, the Tenth held that Rule 13(a)(1)'s requirement that counterclaims be included in "a pleading" does not mean the counterclaim must be found in the most recently amended answer to the exclusion of prior answers, despite Rule 7(a)'s textual commitment otherwise.¹²⁷ Ultimately, like the Eighth Circuit, the Tenth Circuit focused on the purpose of the Rules,¹²⁸ and it held that the strict approach was at odds with the Rules' purpose of securing on-the-merits adjudications, mislaying the focus instead on the pleading

^{121.} *Sinclair Wyo.*, 989 F.3d at 776 (alteration in original) (internal citation omitted) (quoting Hughes v. Abell, 867 F. Supp 2d. 76, 91 (D.D.C. 2012)).

^{122. 867} F. Supp. 2d 76 (D.D.C. 2012).

^{123.} Sinclair Wyo., 989 F.3d at 776 (quoting Hughes, 867 F. Supp. 2d at 91).

^{124.} See id.; see also RULES AND COMMENTARY, supra note 3, at 384–85, 391–92 (discussing the basics of Rule 13).

^{125.} Sinclair Wyo., 989 F.3d at 776 (quoting Hughes, 867 F. Supp. 2d at 91).

^{126.} Id. at 776–77 (citing FED. R. CIV. P. 15(a)(3), stating that "[u]nless the court orders otherwise, any required response to an amended pleading must be made within the time remaining to respond to the original pleading or within 14 days after service of the amended pleading, whichever is later"); see also FED. R. CIV. P. 15(a)(2) (stating that a district court "should freely give leave [to amend] when justice so requires.").

^{127.} Sinclair Wyo., 989 F.3d at 776-78.

^{128.} Id. at 777 (citing FED. R. CIV. P. 1).

skills of counsel.¹²⁹ The Tenth Circuit thus found "Hughes and Davis persuasive because the Federal Rules do not speak clearly about whether counterclaims must be repleaded in subsequent answers, counterclaims are distinct from other parts of an answer, and an inflexible rule would not serve the interests of justice."¹³⁰

The Tenth Circuit further held that an approach that focuses upon intent and prejudice to the plaintiff marks the best path for determining when a defendant has abandoned a counterclaim.¹³¹ Thus, the circuit held that "[a] key consideration is whether the plaintiff had notice that the defendant intended to continue pursuing the counterclaim."¹³² In so doing, the Tenth Circuit emphasized Rule 15(a) doctrine, which "focuses principally on prejudice."133

Having set this standard, the circuit found that the facts demonstrate a lack of prejudice against Sinclair Wyoming. First, the contractors omitted all three counter and crossclaims "from their answers to the first and second amended complaints, instead of selectively omitting one or two of them."134 Moreover, in all three answers, the contractors referred to themselves as "counterclaimants."¹³⁵ Further, in discovery responses postdating the contractors' answer to the second amended complaint, they stated that one of their affirmative defenses was offset, which entitled them to indemnity from Sinclair Wyoming.¹³⁶ Lastly, "after [the defendants'] answer to the first amended complaint but before their answer to the [second amended complaint], the [defendants] moved to dismiss their crossclaim without prejudice but did not move to dismiss their counterclaims."¹³⁷ These facts led the Tenth Circuit to conclude that sufficient notice was provided to Sinclair Wyoming and that it was clear to all parties that the contractors intended to continue their indemnity counterclaims.¹³⁸

II. INTERPRETIVE APPROACHES TO THE RULES

In this Part, we turn to the Supreme Court's interpretive approaches to the Rules generally and where the strict and permissive camps on repleading counterclaims fall within these broader interpretive views. The

2023]

Id. at 777-78 (holding that when the "plaintiff is given sufficient notice that defendant is 129. continuing to pursue a compulsory counterclaim, and plaintiff would not be unfairly prejudiced if the counterclaim proceeds, an inflexible rule that counterclaims are always abandoned if not repleaded would not serve the interests of justice.") (quoting Davis v. White, 794 F.3d 1008, 1015-16); see also Green Country Food Mkt. v. Bottling Grp., 371 F.3d 1275, 1280 (10th Cir. 2004) (holding that the Rules are "intended to promote the objective of deciding cases on their merits rather than in terms of the relative pleading skills of counsel[.]") (alteration in original); cases cited supra note 114 (supporting that purpose of Rules is to promote on-the-merits adjudication over pleading technicalities).

^{130.} Sinclair Wyo., 989 F.3d at 777.

^{131.} Id. at 777-78.

^{132.} Id. at 777.

^{133.} Id

Id. at 778. 134.

^{135.} Id.

^{136.} Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).

^{137.} Id.

^{138.} Id.

Supreme Court does not consistently engage in one approach to Rules interpretation.¹³⁹ There are at least three takes to Rules interpretation employed by the Court: textualism, inherent authority, and purposivism.¹⁴⁰ We review these approaches in turn and place the strict approach to repleading counterclaims in the textualist camp and the permissive approach to repleading counterclaims in the purposive one.

A. Textualism and the Strict Approach to Repleading Counterclaims

We begin with the Court's textualist moments in Rules interpretation. The Court, in Rules interpretation cases, often treats the Rules, for all practical purposes, like statutes.¹⁴¹ This tends to lead to textualist interpretive approaches, much like those employed by adherents to the strict approach to repleading counterclaims.¹⁴² For example, the Court often holds that "'[w]e give the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure their plain meaning. . . .' As with a statute, our inquiry is complete if we find the text of the Rule to be clear and unambiguous."¹⁴³ In such cases, the Court deploys semantic and syntactic rules of statutory construction, which tend to heavily emphasize textualist tools of interpretation.¹⁴⁴ Further, following this textualist approach, the Court tends to sidestep policy arguments, noting that such policy questions must be sent to the drafters of the Rules.¹⁴⁵

Take, for example, the Court's opinion in *Pavelic & LeFlore v. Marvel Entertainment Group.*¹⁴⁶ There, "the District Court imposed a Rule 11 sanction in the amount of \$100,000 against [the law firm of] Pavelic &

^{139.} See Rules Interpretive Theory, supra note 6, at 2175–79 (discussing this problem).

^{140.} See id. at 2175–78, 2199–215 (reviewing these approaches).

^{141.} See, e.g., Marx v. Gen. Revenue, 568 U.S. 371, 376 (2013) (interpreting Rule 54(d)(1) and explaining that "[a]s in all statutory construction cases, we assume that the ordinary meaning of the statutory language accurately expresses the legislative purpose.") (brackets and quotations omitted); see also Bank Nova Scotia v. United States, 487 U.S. 250, 255 (1988) (noting that the Federal Rules are as "binding as any statute").

^{142.} See cases cited supra note 73 and accompanying text (summarizing the strict approach).

^{143.} Bus. Guides, Inc. v. Chromatic Comme'ns Enters., 498 U.S. 533, 540–41 (1991); see also Pavelic & LeFlore v. Marvel Ent. Corp., 493 U.S. 120, 123 (1989) ("We give the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure their plain meaning, . . . and generally with them as with a statute, '[w]hen we find the terms unambiguous, judicial inquiry is complete.'") (alterations in original); Walker v. Armco Steel Corp., 446 U.S. 740, 750 n.9 (1980) (using similar language); *In re* Pharm. Indus. Average Wholesale Price Litig., 588 F.3d 24, 29 (1st Cir. 2009) (applying the Supreme Court's traditional interpretive approach).

^{144.} See, e.g., Krupski v. Costa Crociere S. p. A., 560 U.S. 538, 547–48 (2010) (employing textualist tools in a Rule 15 case); Leatherman v. Tarrant Cnty. Narcotics Intell. & Coordination Unit, 507 U.S. 163, 168 (1993) (applying *expressio unius est exclusio alterius* in a Rule 8 pleading case); *see also* ANTONIN SCALIA & BRYAN A. GARNER, READING LAW: THE INTERPRETATION OF LEGAL TEXTS 69–166 (2012) (identifying and describing numerous semantic and syntactic canons of statutory interpretation).

^{145.} See, e.g., Jones v. Bock, 549 U.S. 199, 216 (2007) (holding in a Rules case that "'[w]hatever temptations the statesmanship of policy-making might wisely suggest,' the judge's job is to construe the statute—not to make it better. . . . The judge 'must not read in by way of creation,' but instead abide by the 'duty of restraint, th[e] humility of function as merely the translator of another's command.") (alterations in original) (quoting Felix Frankfurter, *Some Reflections on the Reading of Statutes*, 47 COLUM. L. REV. 527, 533 (1947)); *see also* Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N.A., 534 U.S. 506, 515 (2002) (similar); Amchem Prods., Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 629 (1997) (similar).

^{146. 493} U.S. 120 (1989).

LeFlore on the ground that the [underlying copyright infringement]... claim had no basis in fact and had not been investigated sufficiently by counsel."¹⁴⁷ The question for the Court was whether Rule 11, as then drafted, allowed the district court to sanction only the attorney who signed the relevant pleading or the signing-attorney's entire firm.¹⁴⁸ The Court took a textualist methodology that focused on the plain meaning.¹⁴⁹ It held that the district court could not, consistent with the then-text of Rule 11, sanction entire firms.¹⁵⁰ The majority was not at all swayed by Justice Marshall's policy arguments, pointing to a contrary result.¹⁵¹

We find a similar approach in the plurality opinion in *Shady Grove Orthopedic Associates, P.A. v. Allstate Insurance Co.*¹⁵² There, New York law allowed insureds to collect statutory interest from insurers for late benefits payments, but under state law, such interest could not be collected as part of a class action.¹⁵³ The plaintiffs filed an action in federal court, seeking to certify a class action to collect this statutory interest under Rule 23.¹⁵⁴ The issue, under the *Erie* doctrine,¹⁵⁵ was whether Rule 23 directly conflicted with the New York law, meaning that Rule 23 would govern under *Hanna*,¹⁵⁶ or whether Rule 23 should be interpreted to avoid conflict with New York law.¹⁵⁷ The plurality looked exclusively to the textual plain meaning of Rule 23's text, deploying textualist interpretive tools, to conclude that Rule 23 conflicted with New York law.¹⁵⁸ Further embracing this interpretive stance, the plurality specifically eschewed all purposive analysis in favor of this semantic approach.¹⁵⁹

We find this same textualist interpretive approach at work in the strict approach to repleading counterclaims. The courts employing the strict approach engage with Rules 7(a), 13(a) to (b), and 15(a)(3) strictly textually.

^{147.} Id. at 122.

^{148.} Id. at 121.

^{149.} Id. at 123 ("We give the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure their plain meaning, \ldots and generally with them as with a statute, [w]hen we find the terms \ldots unambiguous, judicial inquiry is complete \ldots .") (alteration in original).

^{150.} *Id.* at 125–27.

^{151.} Justice Marshall took a purposive approach. *Id.* at 127 (Marshall, J., dissenting) (describing the lower court's heavy reliance on the policies underlying Rule 11); *see also id.* at 129 (arguing that "[t]he purposes of the Rule support this construction of Rule 11," which would allow for firm-wide sanctions). From this differing view, Justice Marshall concluded that firm-wide sanction was consistent with Rule 11 because "[o]ne of the fundamental purposes of Rule 11 is to strengthen the hand of the trial judge in his efforts to police abusive litigation practices and to provide him sufficient flex-ibility to craft penalties appropriate to each case." *Id.* at 127.

^{152. 559} U.S. 393 (2010).

^{153.} *Id.* at 397.

^{154.} Id.

^{155.} Erie R.R. Co. v. Tompkins, 304 U.S. 64, 78, 92 (1938) (announcing that while federal procedural law applies to federal court proceedings, "[e]xcept in matters governed by the Federal Constitution or by acts of Congress, the [substantive] law to be applied in any case is the law of the state.").

^{156.} See Hanna v. Plumer, 380 U.S. 460, 463–64 (1965).

^{157.} See Walker v. Armco Steel Corp., 446 U.S. 740, 750 n.9 (1980).

^{158.} Shady Grove Orthopedic Assoc. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 559 U.S. 393, 398–400 (2010).

^{159.} See *id.* at 405 n.7 (rejecting the dissent's "suggest[ion] that we should read the Federal Rules 'with sensitivity to important state interests' and 'to avoid conflict with important state regulatory policies."").

Thus, these courts find that because "prior answers" are not a listed pleading in Rule 7(a), the defendant failed to conform to Rule 13(a)–(b) or Rule 15(a)(3) and thus abandoned their previously raised counterclaims by failing to replead them.¹⁶⁰ In line with the Court's textualist moments in Rules interpretation, the adherents of the strict approach ignore prejudice tests and broader policies favoring adjudication on the merits in reaching these conclusions.¹⁶¹ As such, one can fairly label the strict approach as a textualist take on Rules interpretation.

B. Inherent Authority

We turn next to the Court's inherent-authority approach to Rules interpretation. The textualist mode of Rules interpretation does not always carry the day at the Supreme Court.¹⁶² Indeed, the Court often engages with Rules cases from a decidedly non-semantic perspective.¹⁶³ This inherent-authority approach to the Rules¹⁶⁴ has come to the fore in many high-profile cases such as *Scott v. Harris*,¹⁶⁵ *Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes*,¹⁶⁶ *Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly*,¹⁶⁷ and *Ashcroft v. Iqbal*.¹⁶⁸ In this family of cases, we see the Court divorce itself from text almost entirely and look predominately to policy that the Justices set themselves.¹⁶⁹ That is to say, in this family of cases, the policy the Court sets is not one reflected in the Rules themselves or the Advisory Committee Notes, but rather one of the Justices' own making.

When the Court acts in this inherent-authority mode—from the use of video evidence in summary judgment to certification of class actions the Court's interaction with the Rules can hardly be described as the straightforward exercise of textual interpretation.¹⁷⁰ Moreover, the Court has not provided any principled explanation for why deviation from its textualist approach to Rules cases should occur, nor has it acknowledged that it is adopting a fundamentally different interpretive methodology in these cases.¹⁷¹ This is not to say that such cases always lead to poor outcomes from a policy perspective; but rather, these cases result from the

^{160.} See, e.g., cases cited supra note 73 and accompanying text.

^{161.} See sources cited supra notes 74–77 and accompanying text.

^{162.} See Porter, supra note 4, at 131–42 (identifying and describing two other distinct methodologies of Rules interpretation invoked by the Roberts Court).

^{163.} See Supreme Court Regulation, supra note 4, at 1195–97; Porter, supra note 4, at 136–42.

^{164.} See Rules Interpretive Theory, supra note 6, at 2199–211 (critiquing this approach).

^{165. 550} U.S. 372 (2007).

^{166. 564} U.S. 338 (2011).

^{167. 550} U.S. 554 (2007).

^{168. 556} U.S. 662 (2009).

^{169.} See Porter, supra note 4, at 149-53 (recognizing and describing this phenomenon).

^{170.} See id. at 136–37.

^{171.} See David Marcus, Institutions and an Interpretive Methodology for the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 2011 UTAH L. REV. 927, 928 (2011) (claiming that the Court's interpretive methodology in Rules cases varies "wildly and inexplicably"); Porter, *supra* note 4, at 142, 156 (describing "the Roberts Court's interpretive bipolarity," and recognizing "the Court's lack of transparency and self-reflection about its" disparate approaches).

Justices' own view of what constitutes sound policy—not the text or legislative history of the Rules.

*Bell Atlantic v. Twombly*¹⁷² is a ready example. The Court had, prior to this 2007 opinion, affirmed the "no set of facts" standard for interpreting compliance with Rule 8(a)(2) under *Conley v. Gibson* for decades.¹⁷³ The Court rejected this accumulation of precedent in *Twombly*, an antitrust class-action suit against several telecommunications providers.¹⁷⁴ The issue for the Court was that the complaint asserted only that the defendants had colluded in violation of the antitrust laws without providing any specific factual allegations of that unlawful agreement.¹⁷⁵ While this bare allegation survived a Rule 12(b)(6) challenge under the *Conley* standard,¹⁷⁶ the *Twombly* Court overruled *Conley*.¹⁷⁷ Famously, the *Twombly* opinion now requires courts to disregard all recitals in a complaint that are mere legal conclusions and assess whether the well-pleaded factual allegations state a claim for relief that is "plausible."¹⁷⁸ The opinion crafted a new and more demanding test for assessing the sufficiency of complaints.¹⁷⁹

Key for this discussion, however, is that the Court predicated this standard on its policy choice to avoid the high costs of discovery and other disadvantages of litigation, while encouraging the settlement of unmeritorious cases.¹⁸⁰ Indeed, commentators near universally recognized *Twombly* as a pronouncement regarding the policy underlying pleading requirements in federal court¹⁸¹—not as an interpretation of Rule 8(a)(2)'s text. Indeed, proponents of the opinion welcomed it not because of its textual exegesis but because it limited discovery costs.¹⁸² Similarly, opponents focus their ire on the policy implications of *Twombly* as opposed to

^{172. 550} U.S. 554 (2007).

^{173. 355} U.S. 41, 45–46 (1957). The Court had regularly upheld this standard for the fifty years between *Conley* and *Twombly. See, e.g.*, Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 93 (2007); Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N. A., 534 U.S. 506, 507 (2002); Leatherman v. Tarrant Cnty. Narcotics Intel. & Coordination Unit, 507 U.S. 163, 168 (1993); Baldwin Cnty. Welcome Ctr. v. Brown, 466 U.S. 147, 164 (1984); Hosp. Bldg. Co. v. Rex Hosp., 425 U.S. 738, 746 (1976); Beacon Theatres, Inc. v. Westover, 359 U.S. 500, 506 (1959).

^{174.} Twombly, 550 U.S. at 549–50.

^{175.} Id. at 565 n.10.

^{176.} Id. at 561.

^{177.} *Id.* at 563 (retiring the key passage from *Conley*).

^{178.} Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) ("[A] complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to 'state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face."") (quoting *Twombly*, 550 U.S. at 547).

^{179.} See RULES AND COMMENTARY, supra note 3, at 168–70.

See Twombly, 550 U.S. at 558–59; see also Kevin M. Clermont & Stephen C. Yeazell, Inventing Tests, Destabilizing Systems, 95 IOWA L. REV. 821, 826–27 (2010) (reviewing Twombly).
 See Twombly, 550 U.S. at 579 (Stevens, J., dissenting) (noting the same).

^{182.} See, e.g., Lynn C. Tyler, Recent Supreme Court Decision Heightens Pleading Standards, Holds out Hope for Reducing Discovery Costs, 78 PAT. TRADEMARK & COPYRIGHT J. 169 (2009); Mark Herrmann, James M. Beck, & Stephen B. Burbank, Debate, Plausible Denial: Should Congress Overrule Twombly and Iqbal?, 158 U. PA. L. REV. PENNUMBRA 141, 142, 146–47 (2009) (opening statement of Herrmann and Beck arguing that Twombly and Iqbal were properly decided, are correct interpretations of Rule 8, and set sound policy).

textual interpretive difficulties.¹⁸³ Much the same point has been made about the so-called summary judgment trilogy cases, where the Court enacted its own policy preferences that did not align with the Rule's text.¹⁸⁴ While this inherent-authority approach to Rules interpretation is often at play, it is not used by the courts as a part of the repleading counterclaims debate.

C. Purposivism and the Permissive Approach to Repleading Counterclaims

There is yet a third mode the Court takes when interpreting the Rules—a purposive approach.¹⁸⁵ Staszewski and Mulligan, in prior work, defend this overarching approach to Rules interpretation that looks to both the text and the *policy goals of the Rules drafters*—not those of the Justices themselves as adjudicators, which forms the hallmark of opinions such as *Twombly*.¹⁸⁶ In these cases, the Court deploys not just text, but the Advisory Committee Notes,¹⁸⁷ and the policies embedded within the Rules as a whole¹⁸⁸ to reach holdings.

The pre-*Twombly* case of *Swierkiewicz v. Sorema* N.A.,¹⁸⁹ is illustrative of this purposive approach. The issue here was whether, under Rule 8(a)(2), a complaint in an employment discrimination case must contain specific facts establishing a prima facie case of discrimination per the *McDonnell Douglas* doctrine.¹⁹⁰ Engaging in a purposive analysis of the text, the Court held that such a heightened pleading requirement was not

^{183.} See, e.g., Robert G. Bone, Plausibility Pleading Revisited and Revised: A Comment on Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 85 NOTRE DAME L. REV. 849, 858–62 (2010); A. Benjamin Spencer, Plausibility Pleading, 49 B.C. L. REV. 431, 448–50, 461–73 (2008) (detailing the many ways in which the Twombly rule deviates from past practice, the text, the intent, and the legislative history of Rule 8); see also Supreme Court Regulation, supra note 4, at 1197 & n.35–39 (describing these critiques and collecting sources). There were some interpretation-based critiques as well. See RICHARD A. POSNER, HOW JUDGES THINK 53–54 (2008) (contending that the Court in Twombly could not possibly have based its decision on "legalist" principles); see also Marcus, supra note 171, at 974 ("Every relevant indicator suggests that the Court misinterpreted Rule 8 in Twombly and Iqbal.").

^{184.} See Adam N. Steinman, The Irrepressible Myth of Celotex: Reconsidering Summary Judgment Burdens Twenty Years After the Trilogy, 63 WASH. & LEE L. REV. 81, 104–09 (2006) (arguing that the trilogy cases are an example of procedural reform through reinterpretation that do not comport with the text of Rule 56). This point about methodology should be kept separate from the policy merits. That is to say, one can agree with the policy outcome in the trilogy, as we do. See Martin H. Redish, Summary Judgment and the Vanishing Trial: Implications of the Litigation Matrix, 57 STAN. L. REV. 1329, 1343 (2005) ("[T]here exists no justification for imposing any burden on a movant for summary judgment that would not parallel the burden that party would have at trial prior to moving for judgment as a matter of law."); see also EDWARD J. BRUNET, MARTIN H. REDISH, & MICHAEL A. REITER, SUMMARY JUDGMENT: FEDERAL LAW AND PRACTICE 85–86 (2d ed. 2000). Yet still note that this policy outcome is not couched within the text of Rule 56. See Rules Interpretive Theory, supra note 6, at 2202.

^{185.} See Rules Interpretive Theory, supra note 6, at 2227 (providing a summation of such a purposive approach).

^{186.} See id. at 2227–28 (defending this conclusion because of the intra-branch nature of Rules promulgation and the simultaneous passage of the official advisory committee notes).

^{187.} Id. at 2212–13.

^{188.} Id. at 2213-14.

^{189. 534} U.S. 506 (2002).

^{190.} Id. at 508 (citing McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973)).

required. After looking to the text of Rule 8(a)(2),¹⁹¹ the Court examined the purpose of the rule. In so doing, it held that the purpose of Rule 8(a)(2), as established by drafters, was to create a notice pleading regime.¹⁹² It then considered how "[0]ther provisions of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are inextricably linked to" the drafter created policy choice embedded within a notice pleading regime.¹⁹³ Indeed, the Court relied heavily on the purpose of the Rules that rejects "the approach that pleading is a game of skill in which one misstep by counsel may be decisive to the outcome and accept the principle that the purpose of pleading is to facilitate a proper decision on the merits."¹⁹⁴

Gulf Oil Co. v. Bernard¹⁹⁵ is also illustrative of this purposive approach. The opinion interprets Rule 23(d), which then stated that in "the conduct of [class] actions to which this rule applies, the court may make appropriate orders: ... (3) imposing conditions on the representative parties or on intervenors ... [and] (5) dealing with similar procedural matters."196 In an employment discrimination suit, the district court, pursuant to Rule 23(d)(3), entered an order prohibiting the parties and their counsel from communicating with potential class members without court approval.¹⁹⁷ The Court reversed.¹⁹⁸ The Court primarily looked to "the general policies embodied in Rule 23, which governs class actions in federal court."¹⁹⁹ The Court then noted that because of the "potential for abuse, a district court has both the duty and the broad authority to exercise control over a class action and to enter appropriate orders governing the conduct of counsel and parties."200 Concluding, however, that this discretion must be bounded and subject to abuse of discretion review, the Court held that such "an order limiting communications between parties and potential class members should be based on a clear record and specific findings that reflect a weighing of the need for a limitation and the potential interference with the rights of the parties."201 The Court further held that "[0]nly such a determination can ensure that the [district] court is furthering, rather than hindering, the policies embodied in the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. especially Rule 23."202

We find this purposive approach at work in the opinions that make up the permissive approach to repleading counterclaims. For example, in the *Davis*, *Wilson*, and *Sinclair* opinions, the courts primarily relied on the

^{191.} *Id.* at 512–13.

^{192.} Id. at 512 (quoting the Rule's text).

^{193.} Id. at 513.

^{194.} Id. at 514 (quoting Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 48 (1957)).

^{195. 452} U.S. 89 (1981).

^{196.} Id. at 99 (alterations in original) (quoting FED. R. CIV PRO. 23(d)).

^{197.} Id. at 91, 93.

^{198.} *Id.* at 103.

^{199.} *Id.* at 99.

^{200.} Id. at 100.

^{201.} Id. at 101.

^{202.} Id. at 101–02.

purpose of the Rules—promoting on-the-merits litigation—as the foundation for their adoption of the permissive approach.²⁰³ In so doing, these courts were not adopting their own policy preferences, but rather those embedded within the Rules themselves, often citing to Rule 1.²⁰⁴ Similarly, these courts looked to the concept of prejudice from *Foman*, which is itself a purposivist opinion,²⁰⁵ to further the purpose of on-the-merits litigation absent injury to the opposing party.²⁰⁶ Given that these methodological tools are hallmarks of the purposivist approach, one can fairly label the permissive approach as a purposivist take on Rules interpretation. From this interpretive theory overview, then, it follows that the Tenth Circuit took a purposivist interpretive approach to Rules interpretation in *Sinclair*.

We further conclude that the purposivist take, as evidenced in the *Sinclair* opinion, is the better approach to repleading counterclaims. While saving a full defense of the view for other work, we present a summary here. In sum, even for avowed textualists as to other items—e.g., statutes—the purposivist approach makes great sense in Rules cases. This follows because the Rules are promulgated in a different fashion than statutory enactments²⁰⁷—by intra-judicial branch promulgation—that lacks the separation-of-powers considerations that surround statutory interpretation and generally drive the normative foundations for a textualist approach.²⁰⁸ Furthermore, the Rules themselves include the official notes and policy statements as part of their formally enacted documentation, which tends to assuage concerns about the use of legislative history and purposes in the statutory realm.²⁰⁹ Thus, even if legislative history and purpose are not the primary tools of interpretation that a judge might use in a statutory case, they should be germane in a Rules case.²¹⁰ As Justice Frankfurter aptly put

209. Id. at 2197-98.

^{203.} See Sinclair Wyo. Refin. Co. v. A & B Builders, 989 F.3d 747, 776–77 (10th Cir. 2021) (citing Rule 1 to support the premise that the purpose of the Rules is to promote on-the-merits litigation); Davis v. White, 794 F.3d 1008, 1015 (8th Cir. 2015) (relying on the purposes of the Rules as contemplated by Rule 1); Ground Zero Museum Workshop v. Wilson, 813 F. Supp. 2d 678, 706 (D. Md. 2011) (similar).

^{204.} See Sinclair Wyo., 989 F.3d at 776–77; Davis, 794 F.3d at 1015; Ground Zero Museum, 813 F. Supp. 2d at 706.

^{205.} Rules Interpretive Theory, supra note 6, at 2214–15 (discussing Foman).

^{206.} See Sinclair Wyo., 989 F.3d at 777–78 (focusing principally on whether the plaintiff is prejudiced if a counterclaim is allowed to proceed in the absence of a renewed pleading); *Davis*, 794 F.3d at 1015–16 (similar).

^{207.} *Rules Interpretive Theory, supra* note 6, at 2186–93. (discussing the "court rulemaking process" in great detail).

^{208.} Id. at 2183–86 (discussing the principles of statutory interpretation).

^{210.} See Marcus, supra note 171, at 957 (arguing that the Rules should be purposively interpreted); Catherine T. Struve, *The Paradox of Delegation: Interpreting the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure*, 150 U. PA. L. REV. 1099, 1103 (2002) ("[T]he Court should accord the Notes authoritative effect."); *id.* at 1158 ("The fact that the Notes proceed through the approval process along with the text also helps to meet textualist objections to their use."); *cf.* Jennifer Nou, *Regulatory Textualism*, 65 DUKE L.J. 81, 84–87 (2015) (claiming that a textualist approach to interpreting administrative regulations should include consideration of the regulatory preamble and other mandatorily created materials that were part of the public record when elected officials reviewed and approved the proposal). *See also* 28 U.S.C. § 2073(d) (2012). Specifically, this section requires that "[1]n making a recommendation under this section or under section 2072 or 2075 . . ., the body making that recommendation

it, "[p]lainly the Rules are not acts of Congress and cannot be treated as such."²¹¹ Following this methodology, in addition to a Rule's text, the "plain meaning" interpretation of the Rules, as the Court has held at times, "must be guided, in part, by an understanding of the . . . original version of Rule 11 that led to its revision."²¹² For these reasons, then, we think the Tenth Circuit hits the right notes in its *Sinclair* opinion.

III. THE CIRCUITS ESCHEW TEXTUALIST REASONING IN THEIR 2021 SIGNIFICANT RULES DECISIONS

Noting that the *Sinclair* opinion takes a purposivist approach to Rules interpretation, we turn in this Part to determine whether this was a "one-off" interpretive choice for the Tenth Circuit in 2021, or whether this purposivist move represented a trend for 2021 Rules cases. We also explore how the 2021 Tenth Circuit's interpretive approach to Rules cases compared to the other circuits. We conclude that both the Tenth and the other circuits, at least in 2021, generally eschewed textualist tools of interpretation in Rules cases, which in turn supports the normative argument that judges in Rules cases ought to employ purposivist reasoning.

To determine whether *Sinclair* was evidence of a trend or a one-off, we reviewed all the Tenth Circuit's significant Rules cases in 2021. We did the same for the other circuits. Within these cases, we searched for indicia of textualist and purposivist reasoning on the Rules issue, using specific trigger terms such as "plain text" for textualist reasoning or use of the Advisory Committee Note for use of purposivist reasoning. Moreover, as noted above, we conclude that the courts should take a purposivist approach to Rules cases, even if the particular judge is otherwise a textualist for other interpretive endeavors. Thus, we also looked, within the set of significant Rules cases, for the use of textualist reasoning for the non-Rules issues to provide a basis of comparison between Rules and non-Rules issues. Our findings follow.

We begin with the 2021 significant, published Tenth Circuit Rules cases. We used Rules' references in Westlaw headnotes in a published case as a proxy for significant Rules cases.²¹³ The Tenth Circuit decided

shall provide a proposed rule, an explanatory note on the rule, and a written report explaining the body's action, including any minority or other separate views." *Id.* The Rules differ greatly from most federal statutes in this regard. *See* Colin S. Diver, *Statutory Interpretation in the Administrative State*, 133 U. PA. L. REV. 549, 570 (1985) ("Congress seldom provides explicit guidance, even in legislative history, on how it wishes courts to interpret statutory language."); *see also* Cass R. Sunstein & Adrian Vermeule, *Interpretation and Institutions*, 101 MICH. L. REV. 885, 890 n.13 (2003) ("[P]ast history shows that it is most unlikely that Congress will enact rules of interpretation that will generally resolve the disputed issues of interpretive choice.").

^{211.} Sibbach v. Wilson & Co., 312 U.S. 1, 18 (1941) (Frankfurter, J., dissenting).

^{212.} Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 384, 392 (1990).

^{213.} We performed this search in the Westlaw database on June 8, 2022. We used the following search terms in the "Tenth Circuit" database: HE(F.R.C.P. "Fed. R. Civ. P." "federal rule #of civil procedure") & DA(after 12/31/2020) & DA(before 01/01/2022). Within these results, we filtered to return only circuit-level, published opinions.

fifty-two significant, published, Rules cases in 2021.²¹⁴ Of these fifty-two cases, only one took a textualist approach to interpreting the Rules ²¹⁵: *In re Samsung Top-Load Washing Machine Marketing, Sales Practices & Products Liability Litigation*.²¹⁶ In *In re Samsung*, the Circuit held that "[b]ased on the Rule's plain language, 'a district court's decision to certify a class must precede the appointment of class counsel."²¹⁷ *In re Samsung*, moreover, is the only opinion of the fifty-two cases to use the phrase "plain language" in connection with an analysis of the Rules. Notably, the Tenth Circuit never used the phrases "text," "plain text," "meaning," "ordinary meaning," "plain meaning," "language," or "ordinary language" in connection with an analysis of the Rules.²¹⁸ From this, we found that the Tenth Circuit employed textualist tools of interpretation for Rules analysis in 1.9% of its significant Rules cases in 2021.²¹⁹

These results are all the more striking given that within this very same fifty-two-opinion dataset, the same judges facing the same facts regularly deployed textualist analysis in interpreting other materials such as federal legislation, state legislation, regulation, and the like. For example, eight opinions use "plain language" as an interpretive tool for material other than the Rules.²²⁰ Similarly, eight opinions use "plain meaning" as an interpretive tool for material other than the Rules.²²¹ Further, seven opinions

218. See authors' commentary supra note 215 (describing process for obtaining results).

^{214.} See infra Appendix 1 (containing a list of all fifty-two cases). The search returned four additional opinions, which we excluded because they were later superseded or withdrawn. See Edmonds-Radford v. Sw. Airlines Co., 13 F.4th 1107 (10th Cir. 2021), withdrawn and superseded on reh'g, 17 F.4th 975 (10th Cir. 2021); Gerson v. Logan River Acad., 11 F.4th 1195 (10th Cir. 2021), withdrawn and superseded on denial of reh'g en banc, 20 F.4th 1263 (10th Cir. 2021); Schell v. Okla. Sup. Ct., 2 F.4th 1312 (10th Cir. 2021), withdrawn and superseded on reh'g, 11 F.4th 1178 (10th Cir. 2021); Truman v. Orem City, 998 F.3d 1164 (10th Cir. 2021), withdrawn and superseded on reh'g in part, 1 F.4th 1227 (10th Cir. 2021).

^{215.} The terms we employed as indicia of textualist reasoning are: text, plain text, meaning, ordinary meaning, plain meaning, language, ordinary language, and plain language. We determined that an opinion used textualist reasoning if one of these terms was in the same paragraph as a Rules reference. Thus, the Westlaw "filter" terms within the search was: "plain text" /p (F.R.C.P. "Fed. R. Civ. P." "federal rule #of civil procedure"). We repeated this filter for each term. The terms we employed as indicia of purposivist reasoning are: purpose, intent, and advisory committee. We used the same filter process as with the textualist language.

^{216. 997} F.3d 1077, 1087–88 (10th Cir. 2021).

^{217.} Id. (quoting Sheinberg v. Sorensen, 606 F.3d 130, 132 (3d Cir. 2010)).

^{219.} See infra Table 1.

^{220.} See Goodwill Indus. of Cent. Okla. v. Phila. Indem. Ins. Co., 21 F.4th 704, 712–14 (10th Cir. 2021) (deploying "plain language" interpretation of gubernatorial executive order); Ohlsen v. United States, 998 F.3d 1143, 1155–57 (10th Cir. 2021) (analyzing "plain language" of federal statute); LKL Assocs., Inc. v. Union Pac. R.R. Co., 17 F.4th 1287, 1306 (10th Cir. 2021) (Briscoe, J., concurring) (same); Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh v. Dish Network, LLC, 17 F.4th 22, 30 (10th Cir. 2021) (relying on "plain language" of a contract); BonBeck Parker, LLC v. Travelers Indem. Co. of Am., 14 F.4th 1169, 1174, 1176, 1179–81 (10th Cir. 2021) (same); Marcantel v. Michael & Sonja Saltman Fam. Tr., 993 F.3d 1212, 1235 (10th Cir. 2021) (same); N.R.D.C. v. McCarthy, 993 F.3d 1243, 1251 (10th Cir. 2021) (utilizing "plain language" of regulation to reach decision).

^{221.} See Goodwill Indus. of Cent. Okla., 21 F.4th at 709 (analyzing "plain meaning" of a contract); BonBeck Parker, 14 F.4th at 1177–80 (same); Marcantel, 993 F.3d at 1235 (same); Sinclair Wyo. Refin. Co. v. A & B Builders, Ltd., 989 F.3d 747, 766, 779 (10th Cir. 2021); Nat'l Union Fire Ins., 17 F.4th at 30, 32 n.5 (deploying "plain meaning" interpretation of contract and statute); Solar v. City of Farmington, 2 F.4th 1285, 1289–90 (10th Cir. 2021) (relying on "plain meaning" of federal

use "ordinary meaning" as an interpretive tool for material other than the Rules.²²² And two opinions use "plain text" as an interpretive tool for material other than the Rules.²²³ To be sure, many of these opinions overlap in their use of textualist tools of interpretation; nevertheless, there are twelve unique opinions within this textualist tools of interpretation subset. From this, we found that the Tenth Circuit employed textualist tools of interpretation for non-Rules analysis in 23.1% of its significant Rules cases in 2021, while using textualist tools of interpretation for Rules issues in 1.9% of cases.²²⁴

We took a similar look at the other federal courts of appeals. Again, we used Rules' references in the Westlaw headnote of a published opinion as a proxy for significant Rules opinion.²²⁵ The remaining twelve circuits issued 881 significant Rules opinions in 2021.²²⁶ Akin to the Tenth Circuit's lack of textualist Rules holdings in 2021 (recall we found but one opinion out of the fifty-two), we found a dearth of textualist Rules opinions in the other circuits in 2021.²²⁷ Indeed, we identified only sixteen textualist Rules opinions in the other circuits in 2021.²²⁸ when searching for the terms "text," "plain text," "meaning," "ordinary meaning," "plain

223. See McCarthy, 993 F.3d at 1249 (relying on "plain text" of regulation); Santa Fe All. for Pub. Health & Safety v. City of Santa Fe, 993 F.3d 802, 821 (10th Cir. 2021) (Lucero, J., concurring) (deploying "plain text" of statute).

224. See infra Table 1.

225. We performed this search in the Westlaw database on June 8, 2022. We used the following search terms in the "Circuit Court" database: HE(F.R.C.P. "Fed. R. Civ. P." "federal rule #of civil procedure") & DA(after 12/31/2020) & DA(before 01/01/2022). Within these results, we filtered to return only non-Tenth Circuit, published opinions.

226. See infra Appendix 2 (containing a list of all 881 cases).

227. See authors' commentary supra note 215 (describing process for obtaining results).

See Santos-Arrieta v. Hosp. Del Maestro, 14 F.4th 1, 9-10 (1st Cir. 2021) (deploying "plain 228. text" interpretation); Gravel v. Sensenich (In re Gravel), 6 F.4th 503, 518 (2d Cir. 2021) (Bianco, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (same); Benjamin v. Sparks, 986 F.3d 332, 342 (4th Cir. 2021) (utilizing "plain language" interpretation); Pledger v. Lynch, 5 F.4th 511, 530 (4th Cir. 2021) (Quattlebaum, J., concurring) (deploying both "plain language" and "plain meaning" interpretations); L.A. Pub. Ins. Adjusters Inc. v. Nelson, 17 F.4th 521, 525 (5th Cir. 2021) (relying on "ordinary meaning"); Spectrum Ass'n Mgmt. of Tex. v. Lifetime HOA Mgmt. LLC, 5 F.4th 560, 564-65 (5th Cir. 2021) (deploying "plain text" interpretation); Cretacci v. Call, 988 F.3d 860, 870-71 (6th Cir. 2021) (Readler, J., concurring) (same); Marcure v. Lynn, 992 F.3d 625, 633 (7th Cir. 2021) (relying on "plain meaning"); Spirit Lake Tribe v. Jaeger, 5 F.4th 849, 853 (8th Cir. 2021) (looking to "plain language" of Rule); Merchant v. Corizon Health, Inc., 993 F.3d 733, 741 (9th Cir. 2021) (applying both "plain language" and "plain meaning" interpretations); Olean Wholesale Grocery Coop., Inc., v. Bumble Bee Foods, 993 F.3d 774, 794 (9th Cir. 2021) (Hurwitz, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (deploying "plain text" interpretation); McKinney-Drobnis v. Oreshack, 16 F.4th 594, 607 (9th Cir. 2021) (relying on "plain language"); Briseño v. Henderson, 998 F.3d 1014, 1024 (9th Cir. 2021) (same); In re Equifax Inc. Customer Data Sec. Breach Litig., 999 F.3d 1247, 1283 (11th Cir. 2021) (deploying "plain text" and "plain meaning"); Est. West v. Smith, 9 F.4th 1361, 1367 (11th Cir. 2021) (relying on "plain language"); Agudas Chasidei Chabad of United States v. Russian Fed'n, 19 F.4th 472, 475-77 (D.C. Cir. 2021) (relying on "plain text" and "plain meaning" interpretations).

statute); Standish v. Jackson Hole Mountain Resort Corp., 997 F.3d 1095, 1103–04, n.6 (10th Cir. 2021) (deploying "plain meaning" of state statute); *McCarthy*, 993 F.3d at 1251–52 (looking to "plain meaning" of regulation).

^{222.} See LKL Assocs., 17 F.4th at 1294 (relying on "ordinary meaning" of federal statute); Solar, 2 F.4th at 1290; *McCarthy*, 993 F.3d at 1251 (deploying "ordinary meaning" of regulation); *Goodwill Indus. of Cent. Okla.*, 21 F.4th at 710 n.3 (analyzing "ordinary meaning" of state statute); *Nat'l Union Fire Ins.*, 17 F.4th at 33 (deploying "ordinary meaning" of contract); *BonBeck Parker*, 14 F.4th at 1173, 1176–81 (same); *Marcantel*, 993 F.3d at 1223, 1226 (same).

meaning," "language," "ordinary language," or "plain language" within the same paragraph as a reference to the Rules. From this, we found that the other circuit's employed textualist tools of interpretation for Rules analysis in 1.8% of their significant Rules cases in 2021.²²⁹

Similar to the Tenth Circuit, in these 881 significant Rules opinions issued in 2021 from the other circuits, the judges frequently used textualist tools of interpretation in addressing other materials such as federal legislation, state legislation, regulation, and the like. Our search revealed that 188 opinions used the terms "text," "plain text," "meaning," "ordinary meaning," "plain meaning," "language," or "ordinary language," in their analysis of non-Rules materials.²³⁰ From this, we found that the other circuits employed textualist tools of interpretation for non-Rules issues in 21.3% of their significant Rules cases in 2021.²³¹

This result contrasts greatly with the thirty-four published, significant Rules opinions from circuits other than the Tenth that deploy the advisory committee's note as a purposivist interpretive tool.²³² Further, we found an additional thirteen published, significant Rules opinions from circuits other than the Tenth that look to the "purpose" or "intent" of the Rules as an interpretive tool.²³³ From this, we found that the other circuits employed

233. See supra note 215 (describing process for obtaining results). The cases are: Santos-Arrieta, 14 F.4th at 8–9; Electra v. 59 Murray Enters., Inc., 987 F.3d 233, 246 (2d Cir. 2021); Lively v. WAFRA Inv. Advisory Grp., Inc., 6 F.4th 293, 302 n.2 (2d Cir. 2021); In re Gravel, 6 F.4th at 518

^{229.} See infra Table 1.

^{230.} We obtained this result by filtering the search described in *supra* note 215 with the following: ("text," "plain text," "meaning," "ordinary meaning," "plain meaning," "language," "ordinary language," or "plain meaning"). This returned 204 cases. We then removed the 16 opinions that deployed these terms only as part of their Rules analysis, leaving 188 opinions.

^{231.} See infra Table 1.

See supra note 215 (describing process for obtaining results). The cases are: Cohen v. 232. Brown Univ., 16 F.4th 935, 943 (1st Cir. 2021); Santos-Arrieta, 14 F.4th at 9: United States v. 2008 33' Contender Model Tournament Vessel, 990 F.3d 725, 727 (1st Cir. 2021); Bais Yaakov Spring Valley v. ACT, Inc., 12 F.4th 81, 105 (1st Cir. 2021); In re Vitamin C Antitrust Litig., 8 F.4th 136, 147 n.17 (2d Cir. 2021); Liebowitz v. Bandshell Artist Mgmt., 6 F.4th 267, 291 (2d Cir. 2021); Bensch v. Est. Umar, 2 F.4th 70, 76 (2d Cir. 2021); Fund Liquidation Holdings LLC v. Bank of Am. Corp., 991 F.3d 370, 389 n.10 (2d Cir. 2021); Jin v. Shanghai Original, 990 F.3d 251, 261-63 (2d Cir. 2021); In re Citizens Bank, 15 F.4th 607, 617–18 (3d Cir. 2021); Russell v. Educ. Comm'n for Foreign Med. Graduates, 15 F.4th 259, 267 (3d Cir. 2021); Conboy v. U.S. Small Bus. Admin., 992 F.3d 153, 164 (3d Cir. 2021); United States v. 269 Acres, 995 F.3d 152, 170 n.11 (4th Cir. 2021); Prantil v. Arkema, Inc., 986 F.3d 570, 582 n.65 (5th Cir. 2021); Earl v. Boeing Co., 21 F.4th 895, 901 (5th Cir. 2021) (Elrod, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part); Kensu v. Corizon, Inc., 5 F.4th 646, 649-50 (6th Cir. 2021); S.J. ex rel. M.J. v. Akron City Sch. Dist. Bd. of Educ., 1 F.4th 436, 446 n.4 (6th Cir. 2021); Wyatt v. Nissan N. Am., Inc., 999 F.3d 400, 423-24 (6th Cir. 2021); Helena Agri-Enters., LLC v. Great Lakes Grain, LLC, 988 F.3d 260, 273 (6th Cir. 2021); Jones v. Ramos, 12 F.4th 745, 749-50 (7th Cir. 2021); Spirit Lake Tribe, 5 F.4th at 853; Azarax, Inc. v. Syverson, 990 F.3d 648, 653 (8th Cir. 2021); McKinney-Drobnis, 16 F.4th at 609 n.4; Moser v. Benefytt, Inc., 8 F.4th 872, 877 (9th Cir. 2021); Circuitronix, LLC v. Kinwong Elec., Ltd., 993 F.3d 1299, 1304 (11th Cir. 2021); Merchant, 993 F.3d at 739-40; AcryliCon USA, LLC v. Silikal GmbH, 985 F.3d 1350, 1365 n.35 (11th Cir. 2021); Fed. Trade Comm'n v. On Point Cap. Partners LLC, 17 F.4th 1066, 1081 (11th Cir. 2021); Cutuli v. Elie (In re Cutuli), 13 F.4th 1342, 1347-48 (11th Cir. 2021); O'Neal Constructors, LLC v. DRT Am., LLC, 991 F.3d 1376, 1379-80 (11th Cir. 2021); Wilcox v. Geo. Univ., 987 F.3d 143, 151 (D.C. Cir. 2021); Morrissey v. Mayorkas, 17 F.4th 1150, 1166 (D.C. Cir. 2021) (Millet, J., dissenting); Wi-LAN Inc. v. Sharp Elecs. Corp., 992 F.3d 1366, 1371-72, 1374 (Fed. Cir. 2021); MLC Intell. Prop., LLC v. Micron Tech., Inc., 10 F.4th 1358, 1372 (Fed. Cir. 2021).

purposivist tools of interpretation for Rules analysis in 5.3% of their significant Rules cases in 2021.²³⁴ In the Tenth Circuit, the *Sinclair* opinion was the only significant Rules case in 2021 to use these same purposivist tools of interpretation in Rules issues.

	TENTH CIRCUIT CASE QUANTITY 52		ALL OTHER CIRCUITS CASE QUANTITY 881	
Significant Rules Opinions (SRO)				
SRO Deploying:	CASE QUANTITY	PERCENT	CASE QUANTITY	PERCENT
Textualist Analysis of Rules	1	1.9	16	1.8
Textualist Analysis of Non-Rules	12	23.1	188	21.3
Purposivist Analysis of Rules	1	1.9	47	5.3

 TABLE 1. Significant Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Cases (2021)

Without presuming that a one-year sampling is truly representative, many of these findings struck us as notable. Both the Tenth Circuit, at 1.9%, and the other circuits, at 1.8%, seldomly deployed textualist reasoning for Rules issues.²³⁵ This conclusion appears reinforced when we compared the circuits' use of textualist reasoning for non-Rules issues within this same set of cases: the Tenth Circuit, at 23.1%, and the other circuits, at 21.3%.²³⁶ These results present evidence supporting the notion that even generally textualist judges eschew textualist reasoning when it comes to Rules issues.

We found the adoption of purposivist reasoning for Rules issues interesting as well. Here, at least in 2021, we find the Tenth Circuit, at 1.9%, trailing the other circuits, at 5.3%, in the use of purposivist tools of interpretation for significant Rules cases.²³⁷

Reviews, such as these, of the Tenth and other circuit courts' interpretative stance are important. As the Supreme Court continues to oscillate amongst at least three interpretive approaches,²³⁸ it matters greatly where the circuit courts land on these interpretive questions. From this one-year snapshot, it appears that the circuits are less textualist on Rules matters than they are in other areas of the law. We invite others to research this

⁽Bianco, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part); Burgess v. Goldstein, 997 F.3d 541, 562 (4th Cir. 2021); B.R. v. F.C.S.B., 17 F.4th 485, 496 (4th Cir. 2021); Sanchez Oil & Gas Corp. v. Crescent Drilling & Prod., Inc., 7 F.4th 301, 309 (5th Cir. 2021); United Fire & Cas. Co. v. Prate Roofing & Installations, LLC, 7 F.4th 573, 584 (7th Cir. 2021); United States v. Hassebrock, 21 F.4th 494, 497 (7th Cir. 2021); Benavidez v. Cnty. of San Diego, 993 F.3d 1134, 1145 (9th Cir. 2021); Cooper v. Newsom, 13 F.4th 857, 870 (9th Cir. 2021) (Forrest, J., concurring); Barmapov v. Amuial, 986 F.3d 1321, 1324 (11th Cir. 2021); *MLC Intell. Prop.*, 10 F.4th at 1372.

^{234.} See infra Table 1.

^{235.} See supra Table 1.

^{236.} See supra Table 1.

^{230.} See supra Table 1. 237. See supra Table 1.

^{257.} See supra Table 1.

^{238.} See generally discussion supra Part II (discussing the Court's three approaches to Rules interpretation).

more fully to verify this conclusion over broader datasets.

CONCLUSION

In this Article, we reviewed the Tenth Circuit's *Sinclair* opinion, which held that the failure to replead a counterclaim in an amended answer does not constitute abandonment, absent prejudice to the opposing party. In so doing, the Tenth Circuit adopted a purposivist approach to interpretation of the Rules, which we found to be the most interesting aspect of the decision. In reviewing all the Tenth and other circuits' significant, published 2021 Rules cases, we conclude that the circuits deploy textualist reasoning less often for Rules issues than they do for other questions. This is an important trend, especially against the backdrop of the Supreme Court's oscillating interpretive approaches in Rules cases. We hope this Article will spur future broader reviews into the circuits' Rules interpretive stances.

APPENDIX 1: LIST OF SIGNIFICANT TENTH CIRCUIT FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE CASES (2021)

Case Name and Citation

 1.	Hood v. American Auto Care, LLC, 21 F.4th 1216 (10th Cir. 2021).
2.	Goodwill Industries of Central Oklahoma, Inc. v. Philadelphia In-
	demnity Insurance Co., 21 F.4th 704 (10th Cir. 2021).
3.	Hall v. Allstate Fire & Casualty Insurance, 20 F.4th 1319 (10th
	Cir. 2021).
4.	Gerson v. Logan River Academy, 20 F.4th 1263 (10th Cir. 2021).
5.	Reznik v. inContact, Inc., 18 F.4th 1257 (10th Cir. 2021).
6.	Brewer v. City of Albuquerque, 18 F.4th 1205 (10th Cir. 2021).
7.	LKL Associates, Inc. v. Union Pacific Railroad Co., 17 F.4th 1287
	(10th Cir. 2021).
8.	Edmonds-Radford v. Southwest Airlines Co., 17 F.4th 975 (10th
	Cir. 2021).
9.	Adams v. C3 Pipeline Construction Inc., 30 F.4th 943 (10th Cir.
	2021).
10.	National Union Fire Insurance Co. of Pittsburgh v. Dish Network,
	<i>LLC</i> , 17 F.4th 22 (10th Cir. 2021).
11.	Estate of Taylor v. Salt Lake City, 16 F.4th 744 (10th Cir. 2021).
12.	Tompkins v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, 16 F.4th
	733 (10th Cir. 2021).
13.	Crane v. Utah Department of Corrections, 15 F.4th 1296 (10th Cir.
	2021).
14.	Friends of Animals v. Bernhardt, 15 F.4th 1254 (10th Cir. 2021).
15.	BonBeck Parker, LLC v. Travelers Indemnity Co. of America, 14
	F.4th 1169 (10th Cir. 2021).
16.	<i>Rose ex rel. Rose v. Brown</i> , 14 F.4th 1129 (10th Cir. 2021).
17.	Brown v. Austin, 13 F.4th 1079 (10th Cir. 2021).
18.	Tudor v. Southeast Oklahoma State University, 13 F.4th 1019 (10th
	Cir. 2021).

- 19. Hayes v. SkyWest Airlines, Inc., 12 F.4th 1186 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 20. Brooks v. Colorado Department of Corrections, 12 F.4th 1160 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 21. Schell v. Oklahoma Supreme Court, 11 F.4th 1178 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 22. *Hetronic International, Inc. v. Hetronic Germany GmbH*, 10 F.4th 1016 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 23. Osterhout v. Board of County Commissioners of Leflore County, 10 F.4th 978 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 24. VDARE Foundation v. City of Colorado Springs, 11 F.4th 1151 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 25. Lupia v. Medicredit, Inc., 8 F.4th 1184 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 26. Janny v. Gamez, 8 F.4th 883 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 27. North Mill Street, LLC v. City of Aspen, 6 F.4th 1216 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 28. Hamric v. Wilderness Expeditions, Inc., 6 F.4th 1108 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 29. 303 Creative LLC v. Elenis, 6 F.4th 1160 (10th Cir. 2021), cert. granted in part, 142 S. Ct. 1106 (2022).
- 30. Solar v. City of Farmington, 2 F.4th 1285 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 31. Truman v. Orem City, 1 F.4th 1227 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 32. Reorganized FLI, Inc. v. Williams Cos., 1 F.4th 1214 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 33. Ramos v. Banner Health, 1 F.4th 769 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 34. Ohlsen v. United States, 998 F.3d 1143 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 35. *Harris v. Remington Arms Co., LLC*, 997 F.3d 1107 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 36. Standish v. Jackson Hole Mountain Resort Corp., 997 F.3d 1095 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 37. Bridges v. Wilson, 996 F.3d 1094 (10th Cir. 2021).
- In re Samsung Top-Load Washing Machine Marketing, Sales Practices & Products Liability Litigation, 997 F.3d 1077 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 39. Underwood v. Bank of America Corp., 996 F.3d 1038 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 40. Natural Resources Defense Council v. McCarthy, 993 F.3d 1243 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 41. Marcantel v. Michael & Sonja Saltman Family Trust, 993 F.3d 1212 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 42. New Mexico Oncology & Hematology Consultants, Ltd. v. Presbyterian Healthcare Services, 994 F.3d 1166 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 43. Santa Fe Alliance for Public Health & Safety v. City of Santa Fe, 993 F.3d 802 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 44. Frank v. Crawley Petroleum Corp., 992 F.3d 987 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 45. *Hendrickson v. AFSCME Council 18*, 992 F.3d 950 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 46. Vette v. K-9 Unit Deputy Sanders, 989 F.3d 1154 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 47. Throupe v. University of Denver, 988 F.3d 1243 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 48. Sinclair Wyoming Refinery Co. v. A & B Builders, LTD, 989 F.3d 747 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 49. Smith v. Allbaugh, 987 F.3d 905 (10th Cir. 2021).

- 50. Brooks v. Mentor Worldwide LLC, 985 F.3d 1272 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 51. *Mayotte v. U.S. Bank National Association*, 985 F.3d 1248 (10th Cir. 2021).
- 52. Lance v. Morris, 985 F.3d 787 (10th Cir. 2021).

APPENDIX 2: LIST OF SIGNIFICANT NON-TENTH CIRCUIT COURT FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE CASES (2021)

Case Name and Citation

United States v. Republic of Honduras, 21 F.4th 1353 (11th Cir. 1. 2021). Pineda v. Skinner Services, Inc., 22 F.4th 47 (1st Cir. 2021). 2. Whittington v. Tyson Foods, Inc., 21 F.4th 997 (8th Cir. 2021). 3. 4. In re Piercy, 21 F.4th 909 (6th Cir. 2021). 5. Kalbers v. United States Department of Justice, 22 F.4th 816 (9th Cir. 2021). 6. Borley v. United States, 22 F.4th 75 (2d Cir. 2021). 7. Leszanczuk v. Carrington Mortgage Services, LLC, 21 F.4th 933 (7th Cir. 2021). 8. Brito v. Garland, 22 F.4th 240 (1st Cir. 2021). 9. Klaas v. Allstate Insurance Co., 21 F.4th 759 (11th Cir. 2021). 10. In re Google Inc. Street View Electronic Communications Litigation, 21 F.4th 1102 (9th Cir. 2021). 11. United States v. Hassebrock, 21 F.4th 494 (7th Cir. 2021). 12. Doe #1 v. Red Roof Inns, Inc., 21 F.4th 714 (11th Cir. 2021). 13. Earl v. Boeing Co., 21 F.4th 895 (5th Cir. 2021). 14. Construction Industry & Laborers Joint Pension Trust v. Carbonite, Inc., 22 F.4th 1 (1st Cir. 2021). 15. Dish Network Corp. v. Ace American Insurance Co., 21 F.4th 207 (2d Cir. 2021). 16. RealPage, Inc. v. National Union Fire Insurance Co. of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania., 21 F.4th 294 (5th Cir. 2021). 17. Glennborough Homeowners Ass'n v. U.S. Postal Service, 21 F.4th 410 (6th Cir. 2021). 18. Financial Information Technologies, LLC v. iControl Systems, USA, LLC, 21 F.4th 1267 (11th Cir. 2021). 19. Halsey v. Townsend Corp. of Indiana, 20 F.4th 1222 (8th Cir. 2021). 20. Lax v. Mayorkas, 20 F.4th 1178 (7th Cir. 2021). 21. Air-Con, Inc. v. Daikin Applied Latin America, LLC, 21 F.4th 168 (1st Cir. 2021). 22. Miller v. Chicago Transit Authority, 20 F.4th 1148 (7th Cir. 2021). 23. DeOtte v. Nevada, 20 F.4th 1055 (5th Cir. 2021). 24. Disaster Solutions, LLC v. City of Santa Isabel, 21 F.4th 1 (1st Cir. 2021). 25. Esquivel v. United States, 21 F.4th 565 (9th Cir. 2021). 26. Care One Management, LLC v. United Healthcare Workers East, 22 F.4th 128 (3d Cir. 2021). 27. Ticer v. Imperium Insurance Co., 20 F.4th 1040 (5th Cir. 2021). 28. Skyline Restoration, Inc. v. Church Mutual Insurance Co., 20 F.4th 825 (4th Cir. 2021).

- 29. Terral River Service, Inc. v. SCF Marine, Inc., 20 F.4th 1015 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 30. *Timpa v. Dillard*, 20 F.4th 1020 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 31. Moss v. United Airlines, Inc., 20 F.4th 375 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 32. Romspen Mortgage Limited Partnership v. BGC Holdings LLC Arlington Place One, 20 F.4th 359 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 33. Santiago v. City of Chicago, 19 F.4th 1010 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 34. Seekins v. CHEP USA, 20 F.4th 345 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 35. Ahlman v. Barnes, 20 F.4th 489 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 36. Molina v. Home Depot USA, Inc., 20 F.4th 166 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 37. *Cleven v. Mid-American Apartment Communities, Inc.*, 20 F.4th 171 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 38. *Bradley Hotel Corp. v. Aspen Specialty Insurance Co.*, 19 F.4th 1002 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 39. Stevens v. United States Department of State, 20 F.4th 337 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 40. Crescent Plaza Hotel Owner, L.P. v. Zurich American Insurance Co., 20 F.4th 303 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 41. Sandy Point Dental, P.C. v. Cincinnati Insurance Co., 20 F.4th 327 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 42. Mashallah, Inc. v. West Bend Mutual Insurance Co., 20 F.4th 311 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 43. United States ex rel. Mamalakis v. Anesthetix Management L.L.C., 20 F.4th 295 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 44. Fritz v. Henningar, 19 F.4th 1067 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 45. *Ge v. United States Citizenship and Immigration Services*, 20 F.4th 147 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 46. *Shupe v. Hartford Life & Accident Insurance Co.*, 19 F.4th 697 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 47. Gupta v. Melloh, 19 F.4th 990 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 48. *Cruz-Arce v. Management Administration Services Corp.*, 19 F.4th 538 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 49. Ackerman v. Iowa, 19 F.4th 1045 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 50. Fletcher v. Louisiana Department of Transportation and Development, 19 F.4th 815 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 51. Optronic Technologies Inc. v. Ningbo Sunny Electronic Co., 20 F.4th 466 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 52. Tango Marine S.A. v. Elephant Group Ltd., 19 F.4th 808 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 53. Agudas Chasidei Chabad of U.S. v. Russian Federation, 19 F.4th 472 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 54. Davison v. Rose, 19 F.4th 626 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 55. Gross v. Keen Group Solutions, L.L.C., 18 F.4th 836 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 56. City of Oakland v. Oakland Raiders, 20 F.4th 441 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 57. Davis v. Legal Services Alabama, Inc., 19 F.4th 1261 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 58. *KBC Asset Management NV v. DXC Technology Co.*, 19 F.4th 601 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 59. *PG Publishing, Inc. v. Newspaper Guild of Pittsburgh*, 19 F.4th 308 (3d Cir. 2021).

- 60. Avenoso v. Reliance Standard Life Insurance Co., 19 F.4th 1020 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 61. United States v. Bittner, 19 F.4th 734 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 62. Pennington v. Fluor Corp., 19 F.4th 589 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 63. *Randolph v. East Baton Rouge Parish School System*, 19 F.4th 749 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 64. Blackburn v. Shire US Inc., 18 F.4th 1310 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 65. Curtis v. Galakatos, 19 F.4th 41 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 66. Dennis v. City of Philadelphia, 19 F.4th 279 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 67. Scholz v. United States, 18 F.4th 941 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 68. *CPR Mgmt.*, *S.A. v. Devon Park Bioventures*, *L.P.*, 19 F.4th 236 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 69. In re Am. Express Anti-Steering R. Antitrust Litig., 19 F.4th 127 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 70. United States ex rel. Foreman v. AECOM, 19 F.4th 85 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 71. Plaskett v. Wormuth, 18 F.4th 1072 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 72. Cody v. Allstate Fire and Cas. Ins., 19 F.4th 712 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 73. Fusaro v. Howard, 19 F.4th 357 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 74. United States v. Mills, 18 F.4th 573 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 75. *Carver v. Atwood*, 18 F.4th 494 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 76. Gomez v. Galman, 18 F.4th 769 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 77. Reinebold v. Bruce, 18 F.4th 922 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 78. Martin v. Julian, 18 F.4th 580 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 79. William Powell Co. v. National Indemnity Co., 18 F.4th 856 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 80. Gray v. White, 18 F.4th 463 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 81. DiCocco v. Garland, 18 F.4th 406 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 82. Great American Insurance Co. v. Employers Mutual Casualty Co., 18 F.4th 486 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 83. *Pharmaceutical Care Management Association v. Wehbi*, 18 F.4th 956 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 84. *Callahan v. United Network for Organ Sharing*, 17 F.4th 1356 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 85. Charles v. Johnson, 18 F.4th 686 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 86. Argonaut Insurance Co. v. St. Francis Medical Center, 17 F.4th 1276 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 87. J. K. J. v. City of San Diego, 42 F.4th 990 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 88. United States v. Molina Healthcare of Illinois, Inc., 17 F.4th 732 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 89. Nouritajer v. Jaddou, 18 F.4th 85 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 90. Anderson v. Wilco Life Insurance Co., 17 F.4th 1339 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 91. Karantsalis v. City of Miami Springs, 17 F.4th 1316 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 92. Miller v. Sawant, 18 F.4th 328 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 93. Moler v. Wells, 18 F.4th 162 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 94. Guzman v. Allstate Assurance Co., 18 F.4th 157 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 95. CSX Corp. v. United States, 18 F.4th 672 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 96. Dean v. Wexford Health Sources, Inc., 18 F.4th 214 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 97. Morrissey v. Mayorkas, 17 F.4th 1150 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 98. Doe v. Garland, 17 F.4th 941 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 99. Torcivia v. Suffolk County, 17 F.4th 342 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 100. Marrache v. Bacardi U.S.A., Inc., 17 F.4th 1084 (11th Cir. 2021).

- 101. Sexton v. Cernuto, 18 F.4th 177 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 102. Celgene Corp. v. Mylan Pharm. Inc., 17 F.4th 1111 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 103. Houston v. Texas Department of Agriculture, 17 F.4th 576 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 104. Inland Empire Waterkeeper v. Corona Clay Co., 17 F.4th 825 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 105. Acres Bonusing, Inc. v. Marston, 17 F.4th 901 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 106. Monohon v. BNSF Ry. Co., 17 F.4th 773 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 107. Federal Trade Commission v. On Point Capital Partners LLC, 17 F.4th 1066 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 108. Stevens v. St. Tammany Parish Government, 17 F.4th 563 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 109. Anariba v. Director Hudson County Correction Center, 17 F.4th 434 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 110. Gezu v. Charter Communications, 17 F.4th 547 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 111. B.R. v. F.C.S.B., 17 F.4th 485 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 112. Scott v. U.S. Bank National Association, 16 F.4th 1204 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 113. Kapordelis v. Myers, 16 F.4th 1195 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 114. Villarreal v. City of Laredo, 17 F.4th 532 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 115. UnitedHealthcare Insurance Co. v. Becerra, 16 F.4th 867 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 116. Green v. Department of Education of New York, 16 F.4th 1070 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 117. Bautista Cayman Asset Co. v. Association de Miembros de la Policía de Puerto Rico, 17 F.4th 167 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 118. Garrett v. Murphy, 17 F.4th 419 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 119. Polansky v. Executive Health Resources Inc, 17 F.4th 376 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 120. Siemens USA Holdings v. Geisenberger, 17 F.4th 393 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 121. Melendez v. City of New York, 16 F.4th 992 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 122. Hunstein v. Preferred Collection and Management Services, 17 F.4th 1016 (11th Cir. 2021), reh'g en banc, 17 F.4th 1016 (11th Cir. 2022).
- 123. Cohen v. Brown University, 16 F.4th 935 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 124. United States v. Ramos-David, 16 F.4th 326 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 125. Brooklyn Brewery Corp. v. Brooklyn Brew Shop, 17 F.4th 129 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 126. Mandawala v. Northeast Baptist Hospital, 16 F.4th 1144 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 127. Harmon v. City of Arlington, 16 F.4th 1159 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 128. Simmons v. Trans Express, 16 F.4th 357 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 129. Del Valle v. Secretary of State, 16 F.4th 832 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 130. Reid v. Donelan, 17 F.4th 1 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 131. Ghedi v. Mayorkas, 16 F.4th 456 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 132. CDK Global v. Brnovich, 16 F.4th 1266 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 133. Colchester v. Lazaro, 16 F.4th 712 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 134. White v. United States Department of Justice, 16 F.4th 539 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 135. University of South Florida Research Found., Inc. v. Fujifilm Medical Systems U.S.A., 19 F.4th 1315 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 136. McKinney-Drobnis v. Oreshack, 16 F.4th 594 (9th Cir. 2021).

- 137. Yu v. Idaho State University, 15 F.4th 1236 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 138. Talasek v. National Oilwell Varco, 16 F.4th 164 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 139. In re Hutchinson, 15 F.4th 1229 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 140. Jenkins v. Housing Court Department., 16 F.4th 8 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 141. Cox v. Nobles, 15 F.4th 1350 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 142. Heiting v. United States, 16 F.4th 242 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 143. Middlebrooks v. Parker, 15 F.4th 784 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 144. Butler v. Denka Performance Elastomer, L.L.C., 16 F.4th 427 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 145. Breiterman v. U.S. Capitol Police, 15 F.4th 1166 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 146. Jingrong v. Chinese Anti-Cult World Alliance, Inc., 16 F.4th 47 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 147. United States ex rel. Owsley v. Fazzi Associates, Inc., 16 F.4th 192 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 148. United States v. Approximately \$299,873.70 Seized From a Bank of America Account, 15 F.4th 1332 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 149. Hawkins v. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 16 F.4th 147 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 150. F.P. Development, L.L.C. v. Charter Township of Canton, 16 F.4th 198 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 151. Traxcell Technologies, L.L.C. v. Nokia Solutions and Networks Oy, 15 F.4th 1136 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 152. Crawford v. Tilley, 15 F.4th 752 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 153. Association of American Physicians & Surgeons, Inc. v. American Board of Medical Specialties, 15 F.4th 831 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 154. White v. Illinois State Police, 15 F.4th 801 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 155. United States v. Letter from Alexander Hamilton to Marquis de Lafayette Dated 1780, 15 F.4th 515 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 156. Specht v. City of New York, 15 F.4th 594 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 157. In re Citizens Bank, N.A., 15 F.4th 607 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 158. Acceleration Bay LLC v. 2K Sports, Inc., 15 F.4th 1069 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 159. Platt v. Moore, 15 F.4th 895 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 160. Goldring v. United States, 15 F.4th 639 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 161. Stewart v. Wexford Health Sources, Inc., 14 F.4th 757 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 162. *Mudpie, Inc. v. Travelers Casualty Insurance Co. of America*, 15 F.4th 885 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 163. French v. Merrill, 15 F.4th 116 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 164. Horror Inc. v. Miller, 15 F.4th 232 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 165. Gelber v. Akal Security, Inc., 14 F.4th 1279 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 166. Stromberg v. Qualcomm Inc., 14 F.4th 1059 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 167. Johnson v. BOKF National Association, 15 F.4th 356 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 168. Chesnut v. United States, 15 F.4th 436 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 169. SEC v. Romeril, 15 F.4th 166 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 170. Talley v. Wetzel, 15 F.4th 275 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 171. Mallet & Co. Inc. v. Lacayo, 16 F.4th 364 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 172. Russell v. Educational Commission for Foreign Medical Graduates, 15 F.4th 259 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 173. Mowrer v. U.S. Department of Transportation, 14 F.4th 723 (D.C. Cir. 2021).

- 174. *McDonnel Group, L.L.C. v. Starr Surplus Lines Insurance Co.*, 15 F.4th 343 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 175. United States v. Garrett, 15 F.4th 335 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 176. Ziparo v. CSX Transportation Inc., 15 F.4th 153 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 177. Golf Village North, LLC v. City of Powell, 14 F.4th 611 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 178. In re Cutuli, 13 F.4th 1342 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 179. Center for Investigative Reporting v. U.S. Department of Justice, 14 F.4th 916 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 180. Sanders v. City of Pittsburg, 14 F.4th 968 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 181. *Chicago Teachers Union v. Board of Education of Chicago*, 14 F.4th 650 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 182. Ovist v. Unum Life Insurance Co. of America, 14 F.4th 106 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 183. Kokesh v. Curlee, 14 F.4th 382 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 184. Pirani v. Slack Tech., Inc., 13 F.4th 940 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 185. Sosa v. Martin County, 13 F.4th 1254 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 186. *Inland Empire Waterkeeper v. Corona Clay Co.*, 13 F.4th 917 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 187. Lawson v. Grubhub, Inc., 13 F.4th 908 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 188. Robinson v. National Student Clearinghouse, 14 F.4th 56 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 189. Phillips v. Tangilag, 14 F.4th 524 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 190. Beasley v. Howard, 14 F.4th 226 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 191. IWA Forest Industry Pension Plan v. Textron Inc., 14 F.4th 141 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 192. Wade v. United States, 13 F.4th 1217 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 193. Rouse v. United States, 14 F.4th 795 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 194. Cooper v. Newsom, 13 F.4th 857 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 195. Darby v. Greenman, 14 F.4th 124 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 196. Santos-Arrieta v. Hospital Del Maestro, 14 F.4th 1 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 197. Rafferty v. Denny's, Inc., 13 F.4th 1166 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 198. Wilkins v. United States, 13 F.4th 791 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 199. Benson v. Wal-Mart Stores East, L.P., 14 F.4th 13 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 200. Gaspee Project v. Mederos, 13 F.4th 79 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 201. Forby v. One Technologies, L.P., 13 F.4th 460 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 202. Kuebler v. Vectren Corp., 13 F.4th 631 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 203. Perea v. Editorial Cultural, Inc., 13 F.4th 43 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 204. Loreley Financing (Jersey) No. 3 Ltd. v. Wells Fargo Securities., LLC, 13 F.4th 247 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 205. Barrios Garcia v. U.S. Department of Homeland Security, 14 F.4th 462 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 206. Pals v. Weekly, 12 F.4th 878 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 207. Cohen v. American Airlines, Inc., 13 F.4th 240 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 208. Sitzer v. National Association of Realtors, 12 F.4th 853 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 209. Barilla v. City of Houston, Texas, 13 F.4th 427 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 210. Lindenbaum v. Realgy, LLC, 13 F.4th 524 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 211. Bell v. Wilmott Storage Services, LLC, 12 F.4th 1065 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 212. Chavez v. Robinson, 12 F.4th 978 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 213. Stanley v. Hutchinson, 12 F.4th 834 (8th Cir. 2021).

- 214. Cangemi v. United States, 13 F.4th 115 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 215. Smith v. City of Toledo, 13 F.4th 508 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 216. Jacobson Warehouse Co. v. Schnuck Markets, Inc., 13 F.4th 659 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 217. Hicks v. Martinrea Automotive Structures (USA), Inc., 12 F.4th 511 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 218. Jones v. Ramos, 12 F.4th 745 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 219. Thayer v. Planned Parenthood of the Heartland, Inc., 11 F.4th 934 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 220. Broidy Capital Management LLC v. Muzin, 12 F.4th 789 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 221. Von Duprin LLC v. Major Holdings, LLC, 12 F.4th 751 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 222. Gayle v. Warden Monmouth County Correctional Institution, 12 F.4th 321 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 223. Southeastern Pennsylvania Transportation Authority v. Orrstown Financial Services, 12 F.4th 337 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 224. Johnson v. Ford Motor Company, 13 F.4th 493 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 225. Rutila v. U.S. Department of Transportation, 12 F.4th 509 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 226. Corrigan v. Haaland, 12 F.4th 901 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 227. Dean v. Warren, 12 F.4th 1248 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 228. Giha v. Garland, 12 F.4th 922 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 229. Lubby Holdings LLC v. Chung, 11 F.4th 1355 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 230. Smith v. CSRA, 12 F.4th 396 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 231. Shorter v. United States, 12 F.4th 366 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 232. Kadel v. North Carolina State Health Plan for Teachers & State Employees, 12 F.4th 422 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 233. *HTC Corp. v. Telefonaktiebolaget LM Ericsson*, 12 F.4th 476 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 234. Yu v. Idaho State University, 11 F.4th 1065 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 235. Local 23, American Federation of Musicians v. NLRB, 12 F.4th 778 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 236. FDIC v. Chicago Title Insurance Co., 12 F.4th 676 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 237. Next Investments LLC v. Bank of China, 12 F.4th 119 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 238. In re Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities LLC, 12 F.4th 171 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 239. Kee v. City of New York, 12 F.4th 150 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 240. Bais Yaakov of Spring Valley v. ACT, Inc., 12 F.4th 81 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 241. Jo Ann Howard & Associates, P.C. v. Nat'l City Bank, 11 F.4th 876 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 242. Clews v. Cnty. of Schuylkill, 12 F.4th 353 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 243. Ellis v. Westinghouse Elec. Co., 11 F.4th 221 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 244. Ayla, LLC v. Alya Skin Pty. Ltd., 11 F.4th 972 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 245. Briggs v. Univ. of Cincinnati, 11 F.4th 498 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 246. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc. v. Flanders-Borden, 11 F.4th 12 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 247. MLC Intellectual Property, LLC v. Micron Tech., Inc., 10 F.4th 1358 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 248. Arkansas Teacher Retirement Systems v. Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., 11 F.4th 138 (2d Cir. 2021).

- 249. Universal Secure Registry LLC v. Apple Inc., 10 F.4th 1342 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 250. United States v. Junction City Sch. Dist., 14 F.4th 658 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 251. Corley v. United States, 11 F.4th 79 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 252. Hudock v. LG Electronics U.S.A., Inc., 12 F.4th 773 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 253. Jennings v. Towers Watson, 11 F.4th 335 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 254. Faculty Alumni, & Students Opposed to Racial Preferences v. New York University, 11 F.4th 68 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 255. Maxim Crane Works, L.P. v. Zurich American Insurance, 11 F.4th 345 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 256. *Plumber & Steanfitters Local 773 v. Danske Bank A/S*, 11 F.4th 90 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 257. Taylor v. City of Saginaw, 11 F.4th 483 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 258. Rodenburg LLP v. Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's of London, 9 F.4th 1033 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 259. Andrews v. City of Mentor, 11 F.4th 462 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 260. Doe v. North Homes, Inc., 11 F.4th 633 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 261. Davis v. Buchanan, 11 F.4th 604 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 262. BNSF Railway Co. v. Clark, 11 F.4th 961 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 263. Andy Warhol Foundation for the Visual Arts, Inc. v. Goldsmith, 11 F.4th 26 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 264. Hester v. Bell-Textron, Inc., 11 F.4th 301 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 265. Brooklyn Center for Independence of the Disabled v. Metropolitan Transit Authority, 11 F.4th 55 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 266. Dickson v. United States, 11 F.4th 308 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 267. Flo & Eddie, Inc. v. Sirius XM Radio, Inc., 9 F.4th 1167 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 268. United States v. Simmons, 11 F.4th 239 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 269. In re Tribune Co. Fraudulent Conveyance Litigation, 10 F.4th 147 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 270. Lee Memorial Hospital v. Becerra, 10 F.4th 859 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 271. Johannessohn v. Polaris Industries Inc., 9 F.4th 981 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 272. Estate of West v. Smith, 9 F.4th 1361 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 273. Sardis v. Overhead Door Corp., 10 F.4th 268 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 274. Smalls v. Collins, 10 F.4th 117 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 275. Jones v. Allison, 9 F.4th 1136 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 276. *Cause of Action Institute v. Office of Management & Budget*, 10 F.4th 849 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 277. United States v. Ameren Missouri, 9 F.4th 989 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 278. United States v. Molina Healthcare of Illinois, 10 F.4th 765 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 279. Campos v. Steves & Sons, 10 F.4th 515 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 280. Leftwich v. Dakota, 9 F.4th 966 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 281. Taylor v. City of Milford, 10 F.4th 800 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 282. Revitalizing Auto Communities Environmental Response Trust v. National Grid USA, 10 F.4th 87 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 283. Kaplan v. University of Louisville, 10 F.4th 569 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 284. Vallone v. CJS Solutions Group, 9 F.4th 861 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 285. Ascente Bus. Consulting v. DR myCommerce, 9 F.4th 839 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 286. Vines v. Welspun Pipes, 9 F.4th 849 (8th Cir. 2021).

- Guiliano v. Insurance Company of Pennsylvania, 10 F.4th 177 (3d Cir. 2021.
- 288. Herring Networks v. Maddow, 8 F.4th 1148 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 289. Johnson v. 27th Avenue Caraf, Inc., 9 F.4th 1300 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 290. Kim v. Allison, 8 F.4th 1170 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 291. Canaday v. Anthem Cos., Inc., 9 F.4th 392 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 292. Drummond v. Robinson Township, 9 F.4th 217 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 293. United Steel, Paper and Forestry, Rubber Manufacturing, Energy, Allied Industry and Service Workers International Union v. Anderson, 9 F.4th 328 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 294. Bless v. Cook County Sheriff's Office, 9 F.4th 565 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 295. Williams v. Maurer, 9 F.4th 416 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 296. Rogers v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 9 F.4th 576 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 297. Sacerdote v. New York University, 9 F.4th 95 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 298. Buckley v. Hennepin County, 9 F.4th 757 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 299. Lozano v. New Jersey, 9 F.4th 239 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 300. *Lindsey v. Bio-Med. Applications of Louisiana, LLC*, 9 F.4th 317 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 301. Ward v. National Patient Account Services Solutions, Inc., 9 F.4th 357 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 302. Designworks Homes, Inc. v. Columbia House of Brokers Realty, Inc., 9 F.4th 803 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 303. Boim v. American Muslims for Palestine, 9 F.4th 545 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 304. Poincon v. Offshore Marine Contractors, Inc., 9 F.4th 289 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 305. Division 1181 Amalgamated Transit Union-New York Employees Pension Fund v. New York City Department of Education, 9 F.4th 91 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 306. Turner v. Cincinnati Insurance Co., 9 F.4th 300 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 307. Patten v. District of Columbia, 9 F.4th 921 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 308. Munden v. Stewart Title Guaranty Co., 8 F.4th 1040 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 309. Shipp v. Murphy, 9 F.4th 694 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 310. UnitedHealthcare Insurance Co. v. Becerra, 9 F.4th 868 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- PersonalWeb Technologies LLC v. Google LLC, 8 F.4th 1310 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 312. Di Angelo Publications, Inc. v. Kelley, 9 F.4th 256 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 313. United States ex rel. Schweizer v. Canon, Inc., 9 F.4th 269 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 314. Al-Qarqani v. Chevron Corp., 8 F.4th 1018 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 315. Petrobras America, Inc. v. Samsung Heavy Industries Co., 9 F.4th 247 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 316. Connecticut Parents Union v. Russell-Tucker, 8 F.4th 167 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 317. Reid Hospital and Health Care Services, Inc. v. Conifer Revenue Cycle Solutions, LLC, 8 F.4th 642 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 318. Bilek v. Federal Insurance Co., 8 F.4th 581 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 319. Kars 4 Kids Inc. v. America Can!, 8 F.4th 209 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 320. Jim S. Adler, P.C. v. McNeil Consultants, L.L.C., 10 F.4th 422 (5th Cir. 2021).

- 321. Moser v. Benefytt, Inc., 8 F.4th 872 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 322. *Mitchell Law Firm, L.P. v. Bessie Jeanne Worthy Revocable Trust,* 8 F.4th 417 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 323. Zylstra v. DRV, LLC, 8 F.4th 597 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 324. Graham v. Board of Education, 8 F.4th 625 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 325. In re Vitamin C Antitrust Litigation, 8 F.4th 136 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 326. Rollins v. Home Depot USA, Inc., 8 F.4th 393 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 327. Quinn v. Wexford Health Sources, Inc., 8 F.4th 557 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 328. Jones v. Gulf Coast Restaurant Group, Inc., 8 F.4th 363 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 329. Francois v. Our Lady of the Lake Hospital, Inc., 8 F.4th 370 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 330. Storey v. Lumpkin, 8 F.4th 382 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 331. Johnson v. PRIDE Industries, Inc., 7 F.4th 392 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 332. Herrera v. Cleveland, 8 F.4th 493 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 333. In re Cancel, 7 F.4th 23 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 334. Boigris v. EWC P&T, Ltd. Liability Co., 7 F.4th 1079 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 335. Chavez v. Occidental Chemical Corp., 8 F.4th 91 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 336. CRST Expedited, Inc. v. Swift Transportation Co. of Arizona, Ltd. Liability Co., 8 F.4th 690 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 337. Snoqualmie Indian Tribe v. Washington, 8 F.4th 853 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 338. Axline v. 3M Co., 8 F.4th 667 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 339. In re Zetia (Ezetimibe) Antitrust Lit., 7 F.4th 227 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 340. HCB Financial Corp. v. McPherson, 8 F.4th 335 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 341. Burwell v. City of Lansing, 7 F.4th 456 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 342. Continental Indemnity Co. v. IPFS of New York, LLC, 7 F.4th 713 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 343. Mondis Technology Ltd. v. LG Electronics Inc., 6 F.4th 1379 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 344. *Quadvest, L.P. v. San Jacinto River Authority*, 7 F.4th 337 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 345. *Hakki v. Secretary, Department of Veteran Affairs*, 7 F.4th 1012 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 346. Kohlbeck v. Wyndham Vacation Resorts, Inc., 7 F.4th 729 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 347. United States v. Gaskins, 6 F.4th 1350 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 348. *Lexon Insurance Co. v. Federal Deposit Insurance Corp.*, 7 F.4th 315 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 349. Kaswatuka v. U.S. Department of Homeland Security, 7 F.4th 327 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 350. Pinnacle Advertising and Marketing Group, Inc. v. Pinnacle Advertising and Marketing Group, LLC, 7 F.4th 989 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 351. In re Gravel, 6 F.4th 503 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 352. Klayman v. Judicial Watch, Inc., 6 F.4th 1301 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 353. Sanchez Oil & Gas Corp. v. Crescent Drilling & Production, Inc., 7 F.4th 301 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 354. United Fire & Cas. Co. v. Prate Roofing & Installations, LLC, 7 F.4th 573 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 355. Moreno-Godoy v. Kartagener, 7 F.4th 78 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 356. Haverkamp v. Linthicum, 6 F.4th 662 (5th Cir. 2021).

423

- 357. *Military-Veterans Advocacy v. Secretary of Veterans Affairs*, 7 F.4th 1110 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 358. *Rollerson v. Brazos River Harbor Navigation District*, 6 F.4th 633 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 359. Bellin v. Zucker, 6 F.4th 463 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 360. Hairston v. Wormuth, 6 F.4th 834 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 361. Utica Mutual Insurance Co. v. Munich Reinsurance America, Inc., 7 F.4th 50 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 362. Honickman v. BLOM Bank SAL, 6 F.4th 487 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 363. Smith v. United States, 7 F.4th 963 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 364. Coral Ridge Ministries Media, Inc. v. Amazon.com, Inc., 6 F.4th 1247 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 365. Wilson v. United States, 6 F.4th 432 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 366. National Pork Producers Council v. Ross, 6 F.4th 1021 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 367. Halperin v. Richards, 7 F.4th 534 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 368. Prim v. Stein, 6 F.4th 584 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 369. SED Holdings, L.L.C. v. TM Property Solutions, L.L.C. (In re 3 Star Properties, L.L.C.), 6 F.4th 595 (5thCir. 2021).
- 370. Talevski v. Health and Hospital Corp., 6 F.4th 713 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 371. Henry v. County of Nassau, 6 F.4th 324 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 372. Lively v. WAFRA Investment Advisory Group, Inc., 6 F.4th 293 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 373. United States v. Alaniz, 5 F.4th 632 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 374. Khodorkovskaya v. Gay, 5 F.4th 80 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 375. Liebowitz v. Bandshell Artist Management, 6 F.4th 267 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 376. Johnson v. Dominguez, 5 F.4th 818 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 377. In re Mersho, 6 F.4th 891 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 378. Onyiah v. St. Cloud State University, 5 F.4th 926 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 379. *Himmelreich v. Federal Bureau of Prisons*, 5 F.4th 653 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 380. Pledger v. Lynch, 5 F.4th 511 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 381. Rowland v. Southern Health Partners, Inc., 4 F.4th 422 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 382. United States v. Boyd, 5 F.4th 550 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 383. Kensu v. Corizon, Inc., 5 F.4th 646 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 384. *St. Louis Condominium Ass'n v. Rockhill Insurance Co.*, 5 F.4th 1235 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 385. Mauia v. Petrochem Insulation, Inc., 5 F.4th 1068 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 386. *Clean Air Council v. United States Steel Corp.*, 4 F.4th 204 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 387. Chatman v. Board of Education, 5 F.4th 738 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 388. Glover v. Bausch & Lomb Inc., 6 F.4th 229 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 389. Doolen v. Wormuth, 5 F.4th 125 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 390. Whitewater Draw Natural Resource Conservation District v. Mayorkas, 5 F.4th 997 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 391. Ortiz v. American Airlines, Inc., 5 F.4th 622 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 392. League of Women Voters, Inc. v. Sullivan, 5 F.4th 714 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 393. Spirit Lake Tribe v. Jaeger, 5 F.4th 849 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 394. Marasco & Nesselbush, LLP v. Collins, 6 F.4th 150 (1st Cir. 2021).

- 395. Graham v. Barnette, 5 F.4th 872 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 396. Spencer v. Benison, 5 F.4th 1222 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 397. *Planned Parenthood Gulf Coast, Inc. v. Phillips*, 5 F.4th 568 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 398. Moore v. Trader Joe's Co., 4 F.4th 874 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 399. Bills v. Cactus Family Farms, LLC, 5 F.4th 844 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 400. Fund for Protection of Investor Rights in Foreign States Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1782 for Order Granting Leave to Obtain Discovery for use in a Foreign Proceeding v. AlixPartners, LLP, 5 F.4th 216 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 401. Khachatryan v. Blinken, 4 F.4th 841 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 402. Georgia Advocacy Office v. Jackson, 4 F.4th 1200 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 403. Bot M8 LLC v. Sony Corp. of America, 4 F.4th 1342 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 404. Ziyadat v. Diamondrock Hospitality Co., 3 F.4th 1291 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 405. Spectrum Association Management of Texas, LLC v. Lifetime HOA Management, LLC, 5 F.4th 560 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 406. McReynolds v. Schmidli, 4 F.4th 648 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 407. Social Technologies, LLC v. Apple Inc., 4 F.4th 811 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 408. United States v. Kahn, 5 F.4th 167 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 409. Yusko v. NCL (Bahamas), Ltd., 4 F.4th 1164 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 410. Pietoso, Inc. v. Republic Services., Inc., 4 F.4th 620 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 411. Lindsay v. United States, 4 F.4th 292 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 412. T.R. v. School District of Philadelphia, 4 F.4th 179 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 413. Hammervold v. Blank, 3 F.4th 803 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 414. Karth v. Keryx Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., 6 F.4th 123 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 415. *In re Domestic Airline Travel Antitrust Litigation*, 3 F.4th 457 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 416. Pérez-Abreu v. Metropol Hato Rey LLC, 5 F.4th 89 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 417. Heinz v. Carrington Mortgage Services, 3 F.4th 1107 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 418. Slidewaters LLC v. Washington State Department of Labor and Industries, 4 F.4th 747 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 419. Certon Software, Inc. v. EaglePicher Technologies, 4 F.4th 615 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 420. Killgore v. City of South El Monte, 3 F.4th 1186 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 421. Penobscot Nation v. Frey, 3 F.4th 484 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 422. Alexander v. Saul, 5 F.4th 139 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 423. United States v. Eli Lilly & Co., Inc., 4 F.4th 255 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 424. *Khoury v. Miami-Dade County School Board*, 4 F.4th 1118 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 425. Clemons v. Couch, 3 F.4th 897 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 426. United States ex rel. Cimino v. International Business Machines Corp., 3 F.4th 412 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 427. Copen v. United States, 3 F.4th 875 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 428. Yocha Dehe v. United States Department of the Interior, 3 F.4th 427 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 429. Jam v. International Finance Corp., 3 F.4th 405 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 430. Quiles v. Union Pacific Railroad Co., 4 F.4th 598 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 431. Boudreaux v. Louisiana State Bar Association, 3 F.4th 748 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 432. Cope v. Cogdill, 3 F.4th 198 (5th Cir. 2021).

- 433. *B. Thomas & Co. v. Universal Warranty Corp.*, 3 F.4th 1032 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 434. Adamo Demolition Co. v. International Union of Operating Engineers Local 150, AFL-CIO, 3 F.4th 866 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 435. Mojtabai v. Mojtabai, 4 F.4th 77 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 436. Cebollero-Bertran v. Puerto Rico Aqueduct & Sewer Authority, 4 F.4th 63 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 437. Boykin v. Family Dollar Stores of Michigan, LLC, 3 F.4th 832 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 438. Bergal v. Roth, 2 F.4th 1059 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 439. Wilson v. Gregory, 3 F.4th 844 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 440. Weaver v. Champion Petfoods USA Inc., 3 F.4th 927 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 441. Jackson v. Gautreaux, 3 F.4th 182 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 442. Hamilton v. Westchester County, 3 F.4th 86 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 443. *Reproductive Health Services. v. Strange*, 3 F.4th 1240 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 444. Taylor Energy Co. v. Luttrell, 3 F.4th 172 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 445. King v. United States, 3 F.4th 996 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 446. Rensel v. Centra Tech, Inc., 2 F.4th 1359 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 447. Fisher v. PNC Bank, N.A., 2 F.4th 1352 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 448. Drummond Coal Sales, Inc. v. Norfolk Southern Railway Co., 3 F.4th 605 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 449. *Talamantes v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Co.*, 3 F.4th 166 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 450. United States ex rel. Rahimi v. Rite Aid Corp., 3 F.4th 813 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 451. Prairie Rivers Network v. Dynegy Midwest Generation, LLC, 2 F.4th 1002 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 452. Richardson v. BNSF Railway Co., 2 F.4th 1063 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 453. Zhao v. CIEE Inc., 3 F.4th 1 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 454. Ingram Barge Co. v. Zen-Noh Grain Corp., 3 F.4th 275 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 455. Knowles v. TD Ameritrade Holding Corp., 2 F.4th 751 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 456. *EHM Productions v. Starline Tours of Hollywood, Inc.*, 1 F.4th 1164 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 457. Courthouse News Service v. Schaefer, 2 F.4th 318 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 458. Always Towing & Recovery, Inc. v. City of Milwaukee, 2 F.4th 695 (7th Cir. 2021.
- 459. Belcher Pharmaceuticals, LLC v. Hospira, Inc., 1 F.4th 1374 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 460. Continental Western Insurance Co. v. Country Mutual Insurance Co., 3 F.4th 308 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 461. Bensch v. Estate of Umar, 2 F.4th 70 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 462. Deschutes River Alliance v. Portland General Electric Co., 1 F.4th 1153 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 463. Fairfax v. CBS Corp., 2 F.4th 286 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 464. Dorce v. City of New York, 2 F.4th 82 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 465. Gerling v. City of Hermann, 2 F.4th 737 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 466. Peters v. Aetna Inc., 2 F.4th 199 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 467. Gater Assets Ltd. v. AO Moldovagaz, 2 F.4th 42 (2d Cir. 2021).

- 468. *Myun-Uk Choi v. Tower Research Capital LLC*, 2 F.4th 10 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 469. Thompson v. Microsoft Corp., 2 F.4th 460 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 470. Dean v. Akal Security, Inc., 3 F.4th 137 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 471. Loughran v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 2 F.4th 640 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 472. Gonzalez v. Google LLC, 2 F.4th 871 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 473. Akridge v. Alfa Mut. Ins., 1 F.4th 1271 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 474. Meland v. Weber, 2 F.4th 838 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 475. Clean Air Council v. United States Steel Corp., 2 F.4th 112 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 476. South Grande View Development Co. v. City of Alabaster, 1 F.4th 1299 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 477. Estate of Finnigan v. United States, 2 F.4th 793 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 478. Khochinsky v. Republic of Poland, 1 F.4th 1 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 479. Kaliannan v. Liang, 2 F.4th 727 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 480. M.M.V. v. Garland, 1 F.4th 1100 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 481. Daredevil v. ZTE Corp., 1 F.4th 622 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 482. *T.O. v. Fort Bend Independent School District*, 2 F.4th 407 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 483. Warfaa v. Ali, 1 F.4th 289 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 484. Krivak v. Home Depot, 2 F.4th 601 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 485. SED Holdings, L.L.C. v. TM Property Solutions, L.L.C. (In re 3 Star Properties, L.L.C.), 2 F.4th 387 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 486. Bowers v. Dart, 1 F.4th 513 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 487. Uradnik v. Inter Faculty Organization, 2 F.4th 722 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 488. Doe v. Fairfax County School Board, 1 F.4th 257 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 489. In re Alphabet, Inc. Securities Litigation, 1 F.4th 687 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 490. Eaton v. J. H. Findorff & Son, Inc., 1 F.4th 508 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 491. Big Sandy Rancheria Enterprises v. Bonta, 1 F.4th 710 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 492. Retana v. Twitter, Inc., 1 F.4th 378 (5th Cir. 2021)
- 493. Gillick v. Elliott, 1 F.4th 608 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 494. Mondelli v. Berkeley Heights Nursing & Rehabilitation Center, 1 F.4th 145 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 495. *M.J. ex rel S.J. v. Akron City School District Board of Education*, 1 F.4th 436 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 496. Chua v. Ekonomou, 1 F.4th 948 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 497. Desper v. Clarke, 1 F.4th 236 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 498. L.A. Public Insurance Adjusters, Inc. v. Nelson, 17 F.4th 521 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 499. Yu v. Apple Inc., 1 F.4th 1040 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 500. United States v. Brace, 1 F.4th 137 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 501. Hansen v. LMB Mortgage Services Inc., 1 F.4th 667 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 502. S. Katzman Produce Inc. v. Yadid, 999 F.3d 867 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 503. Kaplan v. Lebanese Canadian Bank, SAL, 999 F.3d 842 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 504. Robinson v. Waterman, 1 F.4th 480 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 505. Nuevos Destinos, LLC v. Peck, 999 F.3d 641 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 506. Bey v. City of New York, 999 F.3d 157 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 507. In re Smith, 999 F.3d 452 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 508. Perdue v. Sanofi-Aventis U.S., LLC, 999 F.3d 954 (4th Cir. 2021).

- 509. Burns v. Palm Beach, 999 F.3d 1317 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 510. Oakwood Laboratories LLC v. Thanoo, 999 F.3d 892 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 511. North Carolina State Conference of NAACP v. Berger, 999 F.3d 915 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 512. AmGuard Insurance Co. v. SG Patel and Sons II LLC, 999 F.3d 238 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 513. Salisbury v. City of Santa Monica, 998 F.3d 852 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 514. Wong as Trustee of Anaplex Corp. Employee Stock Ownership Plan v. Flynn-Kerper, 999 F.3d 1205 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 515. Don't Look Media LLC v. Fly Victor Ltd., 999 F.3d 1284 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 516. Webb v. Trader Joe's Co., 999 F.3d 1196 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 517. Cortez v. Forster & Garbus, LLP, 999 F.3d 151 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 518. Donelson v. Ameriprise Financial Services, Inc., 999 F.3d 1080 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 519. In re Equifax Inc. Customer Data Security Breach Litigation, 999 F.3d 1247 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 520. Lacewell v. Office of Comptroller of Currency, 999 F.3d 130 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 521. Castelino v. Rose-Hulman Intstitute of Technology, 999 F.3d 1031 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 522. In re Lac-Mégantic Train Derailment Litigation, 999 F.3d 72 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 523. Butler v. S. Porter, 999 F.3d 287 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 524. Taite v. Bridgewater State University, Board of Trustees, 999 F.3d 86 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 525. Miller v. Reliance Standard Life Insurance Co., 999 F.3d 280 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 526. Briseño v. Henderson, 998 F.3d 1014 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 527. Vesey v. Envoy Air, Inc., 999 F.3d 456 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 528. Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Devine, 998 F.3d 1258 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 529. Zampierollo-Rheinfeldt v. Ingersoll-Rand de Puerto Rico, Inc., 999 F.3d 37 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 530. Axelson v. Watson, 999 F.3d 541 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 531. Wyatt v. Nissan North American, Inc., 999 F.3d 400 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 532. Baker v. Iron Workers Local 25 Vacation Pay Fund, 999 F.3d 394 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 533. Chandler v. Berlin, 998 F.3d 965 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 534. United States v. Simmons, 999 F.3d 199 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 535. In re Financial Oversight and Management Board for Puerto Rico, 998 F.3d 35 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 536. Kennedy v. Floridian Hotel, Inc., 998 F.3d 1221 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 537. Jackson v. Genesee County Road Commission, 999 F.3d 333 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 538. *Estate of Malkin v. Wells Fargo Bank, NA*, 998 F.3d 1186 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 539. Masters v. City of Independence, 998 F.3d 827 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 540. Daunt v. Benson, 999 F.3d 299 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 541. Todd v. Fayette County School District, 998 F.3d 1203 (11th Cir. 2021).

- 542. Edgewell Personal Care Brands, LLC v. Munchkin, Inc., 998 F.3d 917 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 543. Shanner v. United States, 998 F.3d 822 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 544. Cranor v. 5 Star Nutrition, L.L.C., 998 F.3d 686 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 545. Graham v. Mentor Worldwide LLC, 998 F.3d 800 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 546. Davallou v. United States, 998 F.3d 502 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 547. District No. 1, Pacific Coast District, Marine Engineer's Beneficial Association, AFL-CIO v. Liberty Maritime Corp., 998 F.3d 449 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 548. Snell v. Neville, 998 F.3d 474 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 549. Porup v. Central Intelligence Agency, 997 F.3d 1224 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 550. Roberts v. Glenn Industrial Group, Inc., 998 F.3d 111 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 551. Keene Group, Inc. v. City of Cincinnati, 998 F.3d 306 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 552. Shepard v. Employers Mutual Casualty Co., 998 F.3d 330 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 553. Irving Firemen's Relief & Retirement Fund v. Uber Technologies, Inc., 998 F.3d 397 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 554. Alliance for Good Government v. Coalition for Better Government, 998 F.3d 661 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 555. Alston v. International Association of Firefighters, Local 950, 998 F.3d 11 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 556. Clark v. Stone, 998 F.3d 287 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 557. Tucker v. City of Shreveport, 998 F.3d 165 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 558. Academy of Allergy & Asthma in Primary Care v. Quest Diagnostics, Inc., 998 F.3d 190 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 559. Little Traverse Bay Bands of Odawa Indians v. Whitmer, 998 F.3d 269 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 560. Schulte v. CONOPCO, Inc., 997 F.3d 823 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 561. Cameron County Housing Authority v. City of Port Isabel, 997 F.3d 619 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 562. Doe v. College of New Jersey, 997 F.3d 489 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 563. Tolar v. Bradley Arant Boult Commings, LLP, 997 F.3d 1280 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 564. Carter v. Atrium Hospitality, 997 F.3d 803 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 565. Olivarez v. T-mobile USA, Inc., 997 F.3d 595 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 566. *Lillie v. Office of Financial Institutions State of Lousiana*, 997 F.3d 577 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 567. Burgess v. Goldstein, 997 F.3d 541 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 568. Hurd v. District of Columbia, 997 F.3d 332 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 569. Wickersham v. Ford Motor Company, 997 F.3d 526 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 570. Mayo Clinic v. United States, 997 F.3d 789 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 571. Afunday Charters, Inc. v. ABC Ins., 997 F.3d 390 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 572. Moderwell v. Cuyahoga County, 997 F.3d 653 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 573. Atlas Glass & Mirror, Inc. v. Tri-North Builders, Inc., 997 F.3d 367 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 574. Quinones v. City of Binghamton, 997 F.3d 461 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 575. Flores v. City of South Bend, 997 F.3d 725 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 576. Pacific Biosciences of Cal., Inc. v. Oxford Nanopore Technologies, Inc., 996 F.3d 1342 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 577. Thomas v. TOMS King (Ohio), LLC, 997 F.3d 629 (6th Cir. 2021).

- 578. Sanchez v. Smart Fabricators of Texas, LLC, 997 F.3d 564 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 579. Public Interest Legal Foundation, Inc. v. N.C. State Board of Elections, 996 F.3d 257 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 580. Pavement Coatings Technology Council v. U.S. Geological Survey, 995 F.3d 1014 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 581. Watkins v. Tregre, 997 F.3d 275 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 582. Rogers v. City of Hobart, 996 F.3d 812 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 583. Episcopal Church in South Carolina v. Church Insurance Co. of Vermont, 997 F.3d 149 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 584. Fuqua v. Turner, 996 F.3d 1140 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 585. Watson v. McDonough, 996 F.3d 850 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 586. Cap Export, L.L.C. v. Zinus, Inc., 996 F.3d 1332 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 587. Alvarez v. Akwitti, 997 F.3d 211 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 588. Lemmon v. Snap, Inc., 995 F.3d 1085 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 589. White v. U.S. Corrections, L.L.C., 996 F.3d 302 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 590. Douglass v. Nippon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha, 996 F.3d 289 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 591. Thomas v. City of Memphis, 996 F.3d 318 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 592. Collins v. United States, 996 F.3d 102 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 593. Paresky v. United States, 995 F.3d 1281 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 594. Cloutier v. Gojet Airlines, LLC, 996 F.3d 426 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 595. Salinero v. Johnson & Johnson, 995 F.3d 959 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 596. Scarborough v. Federated Mutual Insurance Co., 996 F.3d 499 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 597. Laufer v. Mann Hospitality, LLC, 996 F.3d 269 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 598. Ahmad v. City of St. Louis, 995 F.3d 635 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 599. Whiteside v. Hover-Davis, 995 F.3d 315 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 600. Set Capital LLC v. Credit Suisse Group AG, 996 F.3d 64 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 601. Wilson v. Lamp, 995 F.3d 628 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 602. Annappareddy v. Pascale, 996 F.3d 120 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 603. Sinha v. Bradley University, 995 F.3d 568 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 604. Blackstone Headwaters Coalition, Inc. v. Gallo Builders, Inc., 995 F.3d 274 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 605. Ford v. TD Ameritrade Holding Corp., 995 F.3d 616 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 606. Sperring v. LLR, Inc., 995 F.3d 680 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 607. Thomas v. Lumpkin, 995 F.3d 432 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 608. Strickland v. City of Detroit, 995 F.3d 495 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 609. Reed v. Goertz, 995 F.3d 425 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 610. Rexing Quality Eggs v. Rembrandt Enterprises, Inc., 996 F.3d 354 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 611. Mack v. USAA Casualty Insurance Co., 994 F.3d 1353 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 612. Aguirre v. City of San Antonio, 995 F.3d 395 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 613. Batyukova v. Doege, 994 F.3d 717 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 614. Canning v. Creighton University, 995 F.3d 603 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 615. Meléndez Colón v. Rosado Sánchez, 995 F.3d 262 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 616. *Mojave Desert Holdings, LLC v. Crocs, Inc.*, 995 F.3d 969 (Fed. Cir. 2021).

- 617. Hunstein v. Preferred Collection & Management Services, Inc., 994 F.3d 1341 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 618. MAO-MSO Recovery II, LLC v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 994 F.3d 869 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 619. Mesa Laboratories, Inc. v. Federal Insurance Co., 994 F.3d 865 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 620. Crocker v. Beatty, 995 F.3d 1232 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 621. Meardon v. Register, 994 F.3d 927 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 622. In re Taxotere (Docetaxel) Products Liability Litigation, 994 F.3d 704 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 623. Weatherly v. Ford Motor Co., 994 F.3d 940 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 624. Shakman v. Clerk of Cook County, 994 F.3d 832 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 625. United States v. 269 Acres, 995 F.3d 152 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 626. Salisbury v. City of Santa Monica, 994 F.3d 1056 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 627. American Modern Home Insurance Co. v. Thomas, 993 F.3d 1068 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 628. Genus Medical Technologies LLC v. U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 994 F.3d 631 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 629. Lokhova v. Halper, 995 F.3d 134 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 630. Burton v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours and Co., 994 F.3d 791 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 631. Adir International, LLC v. Starr Indemnity and Liability Co., 994 F.3d 1032 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 632. Bafford v. Northrop Grumman Corp., 994 F.3d 1020 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 633. Klein v. Affiliated Group, Inc., 994 F.3d 913 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 634. *Mayor of Baltimore v. Actelion Pharmaceuticals Ltd.*, 995 F.3d 123 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 635. Benavidez v. San Diego, 993 F.3d 1134 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 636. Foss v. Marvic Inc., 994 F.3d 57 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 637. Hutcheson v. Dallas County, 994 F.3d 477 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 638. Rivera v. Bank of America, N.A., 993 F.3d 1046 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 639. Hamer v. LivaNova Deutschland GmbH, 994 F.3d 173 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 640. Greater Birmingham Ministries v. Secretary of State for Alabama, 992 F.3d 1299 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 641. Government Employees Retirement Systems v. Government of the Virgin Islands, 995 F.3d 66 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 642. Circuitronix, LLC v. Kinwong Electronic (Hong Kong) Co., 993 F.3d 1299 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 643. Prodanova v. H.C. Wainwright & Co., 993 F.3d 1097 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 644. Gibson v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 994 F.3d 182 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 645. Peroza-Benitez v. Smith, 994 F.3d 157 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 646. Kitlinski v. United States Department of Justice, 994 F.3d 224 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 647. Gamble v. FCA US LLC, 993 F.3d 534 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 648. Covidien LP v. Esch, 993 F.3d 45 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 649. Harden v. Hillman, 993 F.3d 465 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 650. In re Ames, 993 F.3d 27 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 651. Olean Wholesale Grocery Cooperative, Inc. v. Bumble Bee Foods LLC, 993 F.3d 774 (9th Cir. 2021).

- 652. Wi-LAN Inc. v. Sharp Electronics Corp., 992 F.3d 1366 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 653. Cloud v. Stone, 993 F.3d 379 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 654. Rustico v. Intuitive Surgical, Inc., 993 F.3d 1085 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 655. Hardigree v. Lofton, 992 F.3d 1216 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 656. Brackeen v. Haaland, 994 F.3d 249 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 657. Hearn v. Comcast Cable Communications, LLC, 992 F.3d 1209 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 658. Merchant v. Corizon Health, Inc., 993 F.3d 733 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 659. Sheppard v. Visitors of Virginia State University, 993 F.3d 230 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 660. Shank v. Carleton College, 993 F.3d 567 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 661. O'Neal Constructors, LLC v. DRT America, LLC, 991 F.3d 1376 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 662. CBE Group, Inc. v. Lexington Law Firm, 993 F.3d 346 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 663. City of New York v. Chevron Corporation, 993 F.3d 81 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 664. Friends of the Earth v. Sanderson Farms, Inc., 992 F.3d 939 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 665. United States ex rel. Felten v. William Beaumont Hospital, 993 F.3d 428 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 666. Carrozza v. CVS Pharmacy, Inc., 992 F.3d 44 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 667. VoteVets Action Fund v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, 992 F.3d 1097 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 668. C. L. v. Del Amo Hospital, Inc., 992 F.3d 901 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 669. Nathan v. Great Lakes Water Authority, 992 F.3d 557 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 670. Martínez v. Novo Nordisk Inc., 992 F.3d 12 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 671. Simko v. United States Steel Corp., 992 F.3d 198 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 672. Almeida-León v. WM Capital Management, Inc., 993 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 673. Frew v. Young, 992 F.3d 391 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 674. Ashley v. City of New York, 992 F.3d 128 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 675. Douglas v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 992 F.3d 367 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 676. Meriwether v. Hartop, 992 F.3d 492 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 677. Andy Warhol Foundation for the Visual Arts, Inc. v. Goldsmith, 992 F.3d 99 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 678. Schreier v. Drealan Kvilhaug Hoefker & Co., 992 F.3d 674 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 679. Marcure v. Lynn, 992 F.3d 625 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 680. Francis v. Kings Park Manor, Inc., 992 F.3d 67 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 681. Chagoya v. City of Chicago, 992 F.3d 607 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 682. Nelson v. City of Chicago, 992 F.3d 599 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 683. Kirk v. Clark Equipment Co., 991 F.3d 865 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 684. Lyngaas v. Curaden AG, 992 F.3d 412 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 685. Meierhenry Sargent LLP v. Williams, 992 F.3d 661 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 686. Young v. Hawaii, 992 F.3d 765 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 687. United States v. Boyd, 991 F.3d 1077 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 688. BCP Trading and Investments, LLC v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 991 F.3d 1253 (D.C. Cir. 2021).

- 689. UFT Commercial Finance, LLC v. Fisher, 991 F.3d 854 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 690. Tah v. Global Witness Publishing, Inc., 991 F.3d 231 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 691. Deal v. Tugalo Gas Co., 991 F.3d 1313 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 692. Green v. Mercy Housing, Inc., 991 F.3d 1056 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 693. Conboy v. U.S. Small Business Administration, 992 F.3d 153 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 694. Krekelberg v. City of Minneapolis, 991 F.3d 949 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 695. United States v. 2008 33' Contender Model Tournament Vessel, 990 F.3d 725 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 696. PDVSA US Litigation Trust v. Lukoil Pan Americas, LLC, 991 F.3d 1187 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 697. St. Elien v. All County Environmental Services, Inc., 991 F.3d 1197 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 698. Kennedy v. Bremerton School District, 991 F.3d 1004 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 699. Fund Liquidation Holdings LLC v. Bank of America Corp., 991 F.3d 370 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 700. Dunne v. Resource Converting, LLC, 991 F.3d 931 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 701. Anokwuru v. City of Houston, 990 F.3d 956 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 702. *Klotz v. Celentano Stadtmauer and Walentowicz LLP*, 991 F.3d 458 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 703. Pietsch v. Ward County, 991 F.3d 907 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 704. Moyer v. Patenaude & Felix, A.P.C., 991 F.3d 466 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 705. Metropolitan Omaha Property Owners Ass'n v. City of Omaha, 991 F.3d 880 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 706. Kinsey v. New York Times Co., 991 F.3d 171 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 707. In re Energy Future Holdings Corp., 990 F.3d 728 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 708. HIRA Educational Services North America v. Augustine, 991 F.3d 180 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 709. Patterson v. Baker, 990 F.3d 1082 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 710. *Carrasquillo-Serrano v. Municipality of Canovanas*, 991 F.3d 32 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 711. Ruiz v. Wing, 991 F.3d 1130 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 712. Walden v. Shinn, 990 F.3d 1183 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 713. Bennett v. Council 31 of the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, 991 F.3d 724 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 714. DePuy Synthes Products, Inc. v. Veterinary Orthopedic Implants, Inc., 990 F.3d 1364 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 715. In re Navistar MaxxForce Engines Marketing, Sales Practices, and Products Liability Litigation, 990 F.3d 1048 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 716. *Tingling v. Educational Credit Management Corp. (In re Tingling)*, 990 F.3d 304 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 717. Reynolds v. Quiros, 990 F.3d 286 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 718. Cho v. Blackberry Ltd., 991 F.3d 155 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 719. Alig v. Quicken Loans Inc., 990 F.3d 782 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 720. Perry v. VHS San Antonio Partners, L.L.C., 990 F.3d 918 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 721. Hall CA-NV, L.L.C. v. Old Republic National Title Insurance Co., 990 F.3d 933 (5th Cir. 2021).

- 722. Pack v. Middlebury Community School, 990 F.3d 1013 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 723. Jin v. Shanghai Original, Inc., 990 F.3d 251 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 724. Edgewell Personal Care Brands, L.L.C. v. Munchkin, Inc., 989 F.3d 1358 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 725. Aldridge v. Mississippi Department of Corrections, 990 F.3d 868 (5th Cir. 2021).
- Medical Protective Co. of Fort Wayne, Indiana v. American International Specialty Lines Insurance Co., 990 F.3d 1003 (7th Cir. 2021).
 Byrd v. Lamb, 990 F.3d 879 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 727. *Byru v. Eumo*, 990 **F**.5d 879 (5th Ch. 2021).
- 728. Azarax, Inc. v. Syverson, 990 F.3d 648 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 729. Binh Hoa Le v. Exeter Finance Corp., 990 F.3d 410 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 730. Wright v. Union Pacific Railroad Co., 990 F.3d 428 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 731. In re Fidelity Erisa Fee Litigation, 990 F.3d 515 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 732. P.W. ex rel Woodson v. United States, 990 F.3d 515 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 733. Ndambi v. CoreCivic, Inc., 990 F.3d 369 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 734. Prosper v. Martin, 989 F.3d 1242 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 735. Howard v. Cook County Sheriff's Office, 989 F.3d 587 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 736. Chevron Corp. v. Donziger, 990 F.3d 191 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 737. Lopez v. Whirlpool Corp., 989 F.3d 656 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 738. Anderson v. Edward D. Jones & Co., 990 F.3d 692 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 739. American Guarantee & Liability Insurance Co. v. ACE American Insurance Co., 990 F.3d 842 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 740. Perry v. Sims, 990 F.3d 505 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 741. González-Bermúdez v. Abbott Laboratories P.R. Inc., 990 F.3d 37 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 742. Lachance v. Charlton, 990 F.3d 14 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 743. Board of Education of Yorktown Central School District v. C.S., 990 F.3d 152 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 744. Joseph v. Lincare, Inc., 989 F.3d 147 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 745. Robertson v. Anderson Mill Elementary School, 989 F.3d 282 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 746. Larry E. Parrish. P.C. v. Bennett, 989 F.3d 452 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 747. Casco, Inc. v. John Deere Construction & Forestry Co., 990 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 748. Platinum Supplemental Insurance v. Guarantee Trust Life Insurance, 989 F.3d 556 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 749. Rojas v. Federal Aviation Administration, 989 F.3d 666 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 750. Bayer Healthcare LLC v. Baxalta Inc., 989 F.3d 964 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 751. Arunachalam v. International Business Machine Corp., 989 F.3d 988 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 752. WickFire, L.L.C. v. Woodruff, 989 F.3d 343 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 753. Fontana v. HOVG LLC, 989 F.3d 338 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 754. Doe v. Michigan State University, 989 F.3d 418 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 755. Ohio State University v. Redbubble, Inc., 989 F.3d 435 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 756. Turner v. XTO Energy, Inc., 989 F.3d 625 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 757. Aquinnah/Gay Head Community Ass'n v. Wampanoag Tribe of Gay Head (Aquinnah), 989 F.3d 72 (1st Cir. 2021).

- 758. Tercero v. Texas Southmost College District, 989 F.3d 291 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 759. Reedy v. West, 988 F.3d 907 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 760. Weber v. BNSF Railway Co., 989 F.3d 320 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 761. Stuart v. City of Framingham, 989 F.3d 29 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 762. *Griffin v. Coca-Cola Refreshments USA, Inc.*, 989 F.3d 923 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 763. Howard v. HMK Holdings, LLC, 988 F.3d 1185 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 764. Blessing v. Chandrasekhar, 988 F.3d 889 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 765. First Midwest Bank ex rel. Estate of LaPorta v. City of Chicago, 988 F.3d 978 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 766. Bernstein v. Virgin America, Inc., 990 F.3d 1157 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 767. Bernstein v. Virgin America, Inc., 3 F.4th 1127 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 768. PBT Real Estate v. Palm Beach, 988 F.3d 1274 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 769. Sedar v. Reston Town Center Property, L.L.C., 988 F.3d 756 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 770. In re Triangle Capital Corp., 988 F.3d 743 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 771. Alston v. Spiegel, 988 F.3d 564 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 772. Campbell v. Wilkinson, 988 F.3d 798 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 773. Moore ex rel. Moore v. Hiram Township, 988 F.3d 353 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 774. Victim Rights Law Center v. Rosenfelt, 988 F.3d 556 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 775. Smith v. General Motors, 988 F.3d 873 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 776. Rohe v. Wells Fargo Bank, 988 F.3d 1256 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 777. Steves & Sons, Inc. v. Jeld-Wen, Inc., 988 F.3d 690 (4th Cir. 2021).
- Schwamberger v. Marion County Board of Elections, 988 F.3d 851 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 779. Connell v. Lima Corp., 988 F.3d 1089 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 780. Igasaki v. Illinois Department of Financial and Professional Regulation, 988 F.3d 948 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 781. Cretacci v. Call, 988 F.3d 860 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 782. United States ex rel. v. Mortgage Investors, 987 F.3d 1340 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 783. Tabares v. City of Huntington Beach, 988 F.3d 1119 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 784. In re Synchrony Financial Securities Litigation, 988 F.3d 157 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 785. Du Bois v. Board of Regents of University of Minnesota, 987 F.3d 1199 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 786. Metal Jeans, Inc. v. Metal Sport, Inc., 987 F.3d 1242 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 787. United States v. Greer, 987 F.3d 1089 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 788. Bryan v. American Airlines, Inc., 988 F.3d 68 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 789. Kempf v. Hennepin County, 987 F.3d 1192 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 790. Sarasota Wine Market, LLC v. Schmitt, 987 F.3d 1171 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 791. United States v. Frederickson, 988 F.3d 76 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 792. Synchronoss Technologies, Inc. v. Dropbox, Inc., 987 F.3d 1358 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 793. Coffey v. Commissioner, 987 F.3d 808 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 794. Primarque Products Co. v. Williams West & Witts Products Co., 988 F.3d 26 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 795. Hickey v. Protective Life Corp., 988 F.3d 380 (7th Cir. 2021).

435

- 796. State v. Rettig, 987 F.3d 518 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 797. United States v U.S. Stem Cell Clinic, LLC, 987 F.3d 1021 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 798. Helena Agri-Enterprises, LLC v. Great Lakes Grain, LLC, 988 F.3d 260 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 799. Connecticut General Life Insurance v. BioHealth Laboratories, Inc., 988 F.3d 127 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 800. Horne v. Electric Eel Manufacturing Co., 987 F.3d 704 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 801. Wilcox v. Georgetown University, 987 F.3d 143 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 802. Electra v. 59 Murray Enterprises, 987 F.3d 233 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 803. Henderson v. McMurray, 987 F.3d 997 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 804. In re Deepwater Horizon, 988 F.3d 192 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 805. Ramirez v. Guadarrama, 3 F.4th 129 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 806. *Grand River Enterprises Six Nations v. Boughton*, 988 F.3d 114 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 807. Clayland Farm Enterprises v. Talbot County, 987 F.3d 346 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 808. Chudik v. Hirshfeld, 987 F.3d 1033 (Fed. Cir. 2021).
- 809. Howell v. Wexford Health Sources, Inc., 987 F.3d 647 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 810. New York Legal Assistance Group v. Board of Immigration Appeals, 987 F.3d 207 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 811. Pierce v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, 987 F.3d 577 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 812. Ruiz v. Wing, 987 F.3d 950 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 813. Barmapov v. Amuial, 986 F.3d 1321 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 814. Rotstain v. Mendez, 986 F.3d 931 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 815. Momox-Caselis v. Donohue, 987 F.3d 835 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 816. Gracia v. SigmaTron International, Inc., 986 F.3d 1058 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 817. Jordan v. Howard, 987 F.3d 537 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 818. Cheli v. Taylorville Community School District, 986 F.3d 1035 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 819. Cherry v. Dometic Corp., 986 F.3d 1296 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 820. Belmora L.L.C. v. Bayer Consumer Care AG, 987 F.3d 284 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 821. Burnett v. Ocean Properties, Ltd., 987 F.3d 57 (1st Cir. 2021).
- Pincus v. American Traffic Solutions, Inc., 986 F.3d 1305 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 823. Foodbuy, L.L.C. v. Gregory Packaging, Inc., 987 F.3d 102 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 824. Haddock v. Tarrant County, 986 F.3d 893 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 825. Miller v. Sam Houston State University, 986 F.3d 880 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 826. Goodman v. Diggs, 986 F.3d 493 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 827. Anderson v. Weinert Enterprises, Inc., 986 F.3d 773 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 828. Watkins v. Healy, 986 F.3d 648 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 829. Kuessner v. Wooten, 987 F.3d 752 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 830. *Reed Migraine Centers of Texas P.L.L.C. v. Chapman*, 987 F.3d 138 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 831. Wood v. Wooten, 986 F.3d 1079 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 832. Belliveau v. Barco, Inc., 987 F.3d 122 (5th Cir. 2021).

- 833. Edwards v. Quiros, 986 F.3d 187 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 834. AcryliCon USA, L.L.C. v. Silikal GmbH, 985 F.3d 1350 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 835. East v. Minnehaha County, 986 F.3d 816 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 836. Peterson v. Wexford Health Sources, Inc., 986 F.3d 746 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 837. Fleet Feet, Inc. v. NIKE, Inc., 986 F.3d 458 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 838. Wochos v. Tesla, Inc., 985 F.3d 1180 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 839. In re Blasingame, 986 F.3d 633 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 840. 145 Fisk, LLC v. Nicklas, 986 F.3d 759 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 841. Whitaker v. Tesla Motors, Inc., 985 F.3d 1173 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 842. *Pasadena Republican Club v. Western Justice Center*, 985 F.3d 1161 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 843. Prantil v. Arkema Incorporated, 986 F.3d 570 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 844. Marnocha v. St. Vincent Hospital and Health Care Center, Inc., 986 F.3d 711 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 845. Securities and Exchange Commission v. Johnston, 986 F.3d 63 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 846. Ariix, LLC v. NutriSearch Corporation, 985 F.3d 1107 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 847. Addax Energy SA v. M/V Yasa H. Mulla, 987 F.3d 80 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 848. America Unites for Kids v. Rousseau, 985 F.3d 1075 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 849. Smith ex rel. MS v. Crisp Regional Hospital, Inc., 985 F.3d 1306 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 850. Baan Rao Thai Restaurant v. Pompeo, 985 F.3d 1020 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 851. Bracey v. Superintendent Rockview SCI, 986 F.3d 274 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 852. Muskegan Hotels, LLC v. Patel, 986 F.3d 692 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 853. Muthana v. Pompeo, 985 F.3d 893 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 854. Benjamin v. Sparks, 986 F.3d 332 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 855. Ortega Garcia v. United States, 986 F.3d 513 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 856. Justiniano v. Walker, 986 F.3d 11 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 857. Kotler v. Jubert, 986 F.3d 147 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 858. United States v. Henco Holding Corp., 985 F.3d 1290 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 859. Lemon v. Myers Bigel, P.A., 985 F.3d 392 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 860. *Hickman v. Spirit of Athens, Alabama*, Inc., 985 F.3d 1284 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 861. Erwin-Simpson v. AirAsia Berhad, 985 F.3d 883 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 862. Brown v. Tarrant County, 985 F.3d 489 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 863. Stringer v. Town of Jonesboro, 986 F.3d 502 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 864. United States v. Mortgage Investors Corp., 985 F.3d 825 (11th Cir. 2021).
- 865. Thompson v. Fresh Products, LLC, 985 F.3d 509 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 866. Kareem v. Haspel, 986 F.3d 859 (D.C. Cir. 2021).
- 867. LaSpina v. SEIU Pennsylvania State Council, 985 F.3d 278 (3d Cir. 2021).
- 868. Sandoval v. County of San Diego, 985 F.3d 657 (9th Cir. 2021).
- IDS Property Casualty Insurance Co. v. Government Employees Insurance Co., 985 F.3d 41 (1st Cir. 2021).
- 870. Shah v. VHS San Antonio Partners, 985 F.3d 450 (5th Cir. 2021).

- 871. Hurd v. Fredenburgh, 984 F.3d 1075 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 872. Swales v. KLLM Transport Services, LLC, 985 F.3d 430 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 873. Hooper v. Shinn, 985 F.3d 594 (9th Cir. 2021).
- 874. Anders v. Cuevas, 984 F.3d 1166 (6th Cir. 2021).
- 875. Lindsley v. TRT Holdings, Inc., 984 F.3d 460 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 876. Taylor-Travis v. Jackson State University, 984 F.3d 1107 (5th Cir. 2021).
- 877. Omega SA v. 375 Canal, LLC, 984 F.3d 244 (2d Cir. 2021).
- 878. Sterling National Bank v. Block, 984 F.3d 1210 (7th Cir. 2021).
- 879. JTH Tax, Inc. v. Aime, 984 F.3d 284 (4th Cir. 2021).
- 880. Yeransian v. B. Riley FBR, Inc., 984 F.3d 633 (8th Cir. 2021).
- 881. Dean v. Jones, 984 F.3d 295 (4th Cir. 2021).